Plasma metabolic profiling in male patients with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes Association with inflammatory and oxidative stress markers and arterial stiffness

Chang Young Ha

The Graduate School Yonsei University Graduate Program in Science for Aging Aging and Clinical Nutrition

Plasma metabolic profiling in male patients with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes Association with inflammatory and oxidative stress markers and arterial stiffness

A Dissertation

Submitted to Graduate Program in Science for Aging and the Graduate School of Yonsei University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Chang Young Ha

June 2011

This certifies that the dissertation of Chang Young Ha is approved.

Thesis Supervisor: Jong Ho Lee

Thesis Committee Member: Eun Jig Lee

Thesis Committee Member: Oh Yeon Kim

Thesis Committee Member: Ji Young Kim

Thesis Committee Member: Dong Yeob Shin

The Graduate School Yonsei University June 2011 감사의 글

2011 년도가 시작한 것이 엊그제 같은데, 벌써 한 해의 반이 지나가니 시간의 흘러감은 시간이 지날수록 가속도가 더해져 더 빠른 듯합니다. 돌이켜보면 길게는 초등학교 입학 후부터 석사과정을 마칠 때까지, 의사가 되고자 의대에 진학하고서부터는 내과전문의를 거쳐 내분비-대사내과 분과전문의가 되기까지 짧지 않은 기간의 학업과 수련 과정을 보냈습니다. 그 기간을 돌이켜보면 힘든 때도 있었으나, 제 자신이 하루하루 조금씩 성장해가는 것을 느끼는 뿌듯함과 보람 또한 있었습니다. 그러나, 박사과정을 마치고 논문을 준비하며, 만족감과 성취감보다는 저 자신의 부족함과 아쉬움이 더 크게 다가옵니다. 고등학생 때 철학 선생님께서 공부란 왜 하는가에 대한 주제로 글을 적어 내보라 하셨을 때 공부란 궁금한 것, 호기심에 대한 질문에 대답해가는 과정이라 적은 기억이 납니다. 박사과정이 하나의 의문, 주제에 대한 답을 찾아가는 과정이었다면 박사학위는 공부의 끝이 아니라 비로소 공부를 시작하는 것이라 생각됩니다. 벼 한 포기, 나무 한 그루가 자랄 때에도 계절마다 따뜻한 햇살, 적당한 구름과 비, 농부의 수고가 필요하듯이 저 또한 학업과 수련 과정과정마다 많은 고마운 분들의 관심과 도움, 애정이 없었다면 그 과정들을 제대로 마치지 못했을 것입니다. 이번 박사과정 동안에도 많은 고마운 분 들이 계십니다. 먼저 석사까지 마치고 한동안 진료실에서 화자진료에만 몰두하던 저에게 이 과정을 소개해주시고, 입학전형

세부일정까지 세세히 챙겨 적극 추천해주시고, 학위기간 내내 자상한 지도편달로 이끌어주신 이종호 교수님께 깊은 감사를 드립니다. 밤낮없이, 휴일도 없이 연구에 집중하시고, 세계 유수의 학술지에 끊임없이 중요한 연구 결과들을 발표하시는 교수님의 열정과 탁월함, 부지런함은 저 뿐만 아니라 많은 학생들의 모범이 되십니다. 난해한 분자생물학을 하나하나씩 풀어서 가르쳐주신 정지영 교수님과 지질 및 대사증후군에 대해 재미있게 강의해주신 조홍근 선생님께도 감사를 드립니다. 세미나를 통한 과제 발표를 친근하게 지도해주신 채지숙 선생님께도 감사 드립니다.

학위과정이 외롭지 않고, 즐거움이 있었던 것은 함께 했던 동기들이 있었기 때문입니다. 수업을 함께 들으며 때때로 즐거운 시간도 함께한 오세연선생, 진태원, 곽정현, 강미란, 김범식님에게도 감사 드립니다. 실험을 위해 매일 병원을 방문하여 환자실험을 도와준 정현씨, 경훈씨, 혜인씨 에게도 감사 드립니다. 병원에서 임상연구를 진행할 수 있는 장을 만들어 주신 명지성모병원 허춘웅 병원장님과 바쁜 병원일과 중에도 환자채혈을 기꺼이 허락해주신 진단검사의학과 백남희 과장님과 채혈을 도와주신 직원들께도 감사 드립니다. 당뇨병 연구를 위해 기꺼이 연구참여에 동의해 주시고, 채혈과 검사를 허락해 주신 많은 환자분들께도 감사 드립니다. 그 분들이 없었더라면 이러한 임상연구는 진행하기 어렵고, 질병에 대한 더 깊은 이해와 더 나은 치료의 길은 요원할 것입니다. 저보다 먼저 이 과정에 들어와서 이 과정을 저에게 처음 소개해주어 강남 Genetics.Co 연구그룹과 골다공증 연구에 함께 참여하도록 한 계기가 된 의대생 때부터 늘 학문과 신앙의 열정이 가득한 좋은 친구 김경철 선생님에게도 감사를 드립니다. 논문 작성에 많은 자문과 실제적인 도움을 주신 김지영 교수님께도 감사 드립니다. 함께 수업을 듣고 조금 먼저 이 과정을 거쳐간 경험자로서, 편안하게 여러 질문에 응해주신 국립 암센터 여현양 박사께도 감사 드립니다. 많은 세미나 일정으로 바쁘신 중에도 논문 관련 많은 도움을 주신 베를린 공대 김민경 박사님께도 감사 드립니다. 논문제본 과정을 도와준 서우주님께도 감사 드립니다.

끝으로 사랑하는 가족, 착한 동생 영화와 대영이. 이제는 때로는 조언자로, 존재자체로 늘 격려와 힘이 되는 아낌없이 주어도 아깝지 않은 든든한 형제들에게 무한한 사랑과 고마움을 전합니다. 일평생 각자 공직자로서, 교육자로서 정직하고 청렴하게 살아오신 아버지, 어머니. 삶 자체로서 모범이 되셨고, 나이와 상관없이 새로운 경험과 도전을 두려워하지 않으시는 열정과 부지런함은 늘 안주하려는 저를 돌아보게 합니다. 제가 지나온 모든 과정과정마다 어머니의 기도가 함께 한 것을 알기에 감사합니다 라는 말만으로는 늘 부족함을 느낍니다. 무뚝뚝한 아들로 평소에 말로는 잘 표현 못하지만 늘 마음속에 있는 인사를 드리며 글을 맺을까 합니다. 아버지, 어머니 감사합니다. 사랑합니다.

지금까지 은혜로 인도하신 하나님께 감사와 찬양, 영광을 드리며, 아버지, 어머니께 이 논문을 바칩니다.

2011 년 6 월

CONTENTS

Lis	st of Figures iv					
Lis	t of Tablesvi					
AB	ABSTRACT vii					
1.	INTRODUCTION1					
2.	BACKGROUND					
	2.1. Type 2 Diabetes in Korea					
	2.2. Type 2 diabetes : stimuli and signaling4					
	2.3. Type 2 diabetes and Atherosclerosis					
	2.4. Atherosclerosis and Biomarkers					
	2.4.1. hs-CRP14					
	2.4.2. Lp-PLA ₂ 16					
	2.4.3. oxidized LDL					
	2.5. Lipidomics and Metabolomics23					
	2.5.1. Lipidomics and Molecular Lipids23					
	2.5.2. Metabolomics					
	2.5.3. Metabolites : New biomarkers					
	2.5 Arterial stiffness and ba-PWV					
3.	MATERIALS and METHODS					
	3.1. Subjects					
	3.2. Anthropometric parameters, blood pressure, and blood collection					

	3.3. Assessment of dietary intake
	3.4. Serum glucose concentration, insulin concentration, and homeostasis model
	assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)
	3.5. Serum lipid profile
	3.6. Lipid peroxidation: plasma MDA, oxidized LDL, and urinary 8-epi-PGF _{2α} 40
	3.7. Inflammatory marker: serum hs-CRP, IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α concentrations
	3.8. Plasma Lp-PLA ₂ activity and adiponectin concentration41
	3.9. Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (ba-PWV)
	3.10. Fatty acid composition in serum phospholipids42
	3.11. Metabolic profiling of plasma samples by UPLC/Q-TOF MS analysis43
	3.11.1. Sample preparation and analysis43
	3.11.2. Data processing and identification of metabolites
	3.12. Statistical Analysis
4.	RESULTS
	4.1. Clinical characteristics and nutrient intake
	4.2. Lipid peroxides, inflammatory markers, and arterial stiffness
	4.3. Fatty acid composition of serum phospholipids50
	4.4. Plasma metabolic profiling based on UPLC-Q-TOF MS
	4.4.1. Non-targeted metabolomics pattern analysis
	4.4.2. Identification and fold change levels of plasma metabolites
	4.5. Relationship of major plasma metabolites with lipid peroxides, inflammatory

markers, arterial stiffness, and fatty acid compositions of serum phospholipids55	
. DISCUSSION	
EFERENCES	
ABSTRACT(KOREAN)	

List of Figures

Fig. 1. The prevalence of diabetes and gross national income (GNI)
Fig. 2. Augmentation of ROS by various pathways under diabetic conditions
Fig. 3. Role of ROS in the development of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes
Fig. 4. The transcription factor and gene networks in cytokine induced β-cell death 6
Fig. 5. Proposed model for the different pathways contributing to the execution of
cytokine-induced ß-cell death6
Fig. 6. Schema of five stages of progression of diabetes
Fig. 7. The pathogenesis of Atherogenesis in Diabetes
Fig. 8. Role of ROS in the development of atherosclerosis
Fig. 9. A picture of C-reactive protein (CRP) 16
Fig. 10. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 and atherogenesis
Fig. 11. Lp-PLA2 hydrolyzes oxidized LDL to release proinflammatory lipids
Fig. 12. Risk ratios for coronary heart disease, ischaemic stroke, and vascular and non-
vascular mortality
Fig. 13. Adjusted risk ratios for coronary heart disease per 1 SD higher baseline Lp-
PLA2 activity, mass, and several conventional risk factors
Fig. 14. Algorithm for Lp-PLA2 screening and utility for refining cardiovascular risk
estimation
Fig. 15. A schematic view of metabolomics

Fig.	16. A comparison of NMR and LC–MS analysis of urinary metabolite profiles 28
Fig	17. Suitability of gas and liquid chromatography for metabolomic analysis based
	on metabolite polarity. Courtesy of Agilent Technologies
Fig	18. Schematic view of the sample pretreatment for metabolomic analysis of
	frozen tissue or biological fluid prior to GC-MS or LC-MS analysis
Fig	19. Correlation between FBS, HbA1c and ba-PWV
Fig	20. A comparison of the values of ba-PWV in the three groups
Fig	21. (a) Score plots from PLS-DA models classifying men with newly-diagnosed
	type 2 diabetes (\blacktriangle) and healthy men with normal fasting serum glucose levels (\blacksquare).
	(b) S-plot for covariance [p] and reliability correlation [p(corr)] from PLS-DA
	models

List of Tables

Table 1. Clinical characteristics and nutrient intake of healthy men and men with
newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes
Table 2. Markers of lipid peroxides, inflammation, and brachial-ankle pulse wave
velocity
Table 3. Fatty acid composition in serum phospholipids of healthy men and men with
newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes
Table 4. Identification and fold change levels of plasma metabolites of healthy men
and men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes

ABSTRACT

Plasma metabolic profiling in male patients with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes: Association with inflammatory and oxidative stress markers and arterial stiffness

Chang Young Ha

The Graduate School Yonsei University Graduate Program in Science for Aging

This study investigated whether circulating metabolic intermediates are associated with inflammation, oxidative stress, and arterial stiffness in newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes men. newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes men (n=26) and age- and body mass index-matched healthy men (n=27) were included. We measured inflammatory and oxidative markers and arterial stiffness by brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (ba-PWV). Metabolomic profiling was analyzed with UPLC/Q-TOF MS. Diabetes patients showed higher levels of glucose, triglyceride, oxidized-LDL, hs C-reactive

protein, interleukin-6 (IL-6), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-α), homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance, urinary 8-epi-prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (8-epi-PGF_{2α}), and ba-PWV than healthy men. In plasma, 19 metabolites including leucine, lysine and phenylalanine , 8 acylcarnitines, 6 lyso-phosphatidylcholines (lysoPCs) and 2 lysophosphatidylethanolamines (lysoPEs) significantly increased in diabetes patients, whereas serine and lysoPE (C18:1) decreased. Decanoyl carnitine, lysoPCs (C14:0, C16:1, C18:1, and C22:6), and lysoPE (C18:1) were major plasma metabolites that distinguished healthy and diabetic men. Decanoyl carnitine positively correlated with oxidized-LDL, 8-epi-PGF_{2α}, IL-6, and TNF-α, and ba-PWV. Ba-PWV correlated positively with lysoPCs C14:0 and C16:1, and negatively with lysoPE C18:1. 8-epi-PGF_{2α} correlated positively with lipoprotein-associated phospholipaseA₂, ba-PWV and lysoPCs (C14:0 and C16:1). Metabolic analysis revealed that circulating intermediate metabolites are closely associated with inflammation, oxidative stress, and arterial stiffness in early diabetes.

Key words: intermediate metabolites, UPLC/Q-TOF MS, inflammation, oxidative stress, arterial stiffness, early diabetes

1. INTRODUCTION

With people in both developed and developing countries becoming increasingly less active and more obese, the incidence of type 2 diabetes is increasing at an alarming rate. In recent decades, Koreans increased the percentage of fat calories in their diet from 7.2% in 1969 to 18.5% in 2007 (1), and the mortality rate from diabetes has increased rapidly from 7.4% in 1988 to 22.9% in 2007 (2). Metabolomic studies have shown many changes in the human plasma metabonome associated with insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and glucose challenge-induced metabolic responses from prediabetes (3-6). More recently, a metabonomic study of biochemical changes was performed with the serum of type 2 diabetes patients after diabetes medications (7). However, these studies were aimed at developing methods for diabetes diagnosis or studying treatment effects. Similar studies focused solely on the Korean population still need to be performed, especially with the dynamic lifestyle changes evident in modern society. A comprehensive understanding of the metabolic changes, as well as the differences in inflammatory markers, oxidative markers, and arterial stiffness, between early diabetic and healthy subjects also remains relatively unstudied.

In this study, the plasma metabonomic characteristics of age- and body mass index (BMI)-matched Korean men with normal fasting glucose levels and men newly-diagnosed with type 2 diabetes were studied using a metabonomics approach based on the combination of the ultra performance liquid chromatography and quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry (UPLC-Q-TOF MS) and multivariate data analysis. Additionally, inflammatory and oxidative markers, and arterial stiffness measured by brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (ba-PWV) were analyzed. The aim of this study was to determine whether circulating metabolic intermediates are related to inflammation, oxidative stress, and arterial stiffness in men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1. Type 2 Diabetes in Korea

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a major health problem affecting more than 170 million people worldwide, with a major increase expected in Asia in the next 20 years, as indicated by the predicted doubling of the diabetic populations in India and China (8,9). In the USA, more than 13% of adults over the age of 20 years have been diagnosed with T2DM (10). The prevalence of T2DM in Korea rapidly increasing from less than 1% in 1960 to 6-9% in late 1990s (11,12). The rapid rise in the prevalence of T2DM in Korea may be related to an increasingly Westernized diet, decreased physical activity, an increasing obese population, and genetic background



Fig. 1 The prevalence of diabetes and gross national income (GNI) (14)

(13). The putative risk factors for T2DM in the Korean population include increasing age, urban living, female gender, obesity, smoking, family history of diabetes, impaired liver function, metabolic syndrome, elevated blood pressure, and increased triglycerides. Cho et al showed the rise in the prevalence of T2DM in Korea correlates with economic growth (Fig.1) (14).

2.2. Type 2 diabetes : stimuli and signaling

Type 2 diabetes is a multifactorial disease based on environmental factors and genetic background. In many patients, diabetes is asymptomatic for a long period and the patient is not aware of the disease. Type 2 diabetes is the most prevalent and serious metabolic disease all over the world, and its hallmarks are pancreatic beta-cell dysfunction and insulin resistance. Under diabetic conditions, chronic hyperglycemia and subsequent augmentation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) deteriorate beta-cell function and increase insulin resistance which leads to the aggravation of type 2 diabetes (Fig. 2) (15).

The JNK pathway is activated by various factors such as ROS, ER stress, free fatty acids (FFAs), and inflammatory cytokines such as TNF- α and is involved in the development of insulin resistance found in type 2 diabetes. It has been also shown that the IkappaB kinase β (IKK) pathway is also activated by such factors and is involved in the development of insulin resistance. Therefore, it is likely that activation of stress signaling is involved in the development of insulin resistance (Fig. 3) (15).



Fig. 2. Augmentation of ROS by various pathways under diabetic conditions (15)



Fig. 3. Role of ROS in the development of insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes (15)



Fig. 4. The transcription factor and gene networks in cytokine induced **B**-cell death (16)



Fig. 5. Proposed model for the different pathways contributing to the execution of cytokine-induced B-cell death (16)

Pancreatic beta-cells are sensitive to a number of proapoptotic stimuli. Thus, apoptosis is an important part of the physiological neonatal remodeling of the

endocrine pancreas, and a number of pathological stimuli involved in type 1 and type 2 diabetes have been shown to elicit beta-cell apoptosis. Factors of relevance to type 1 diabetes include proinflammatory cytokines, nitric oxide, and reactive oxygen species as well as Fas ligand. Free fatty acids, glucose, sulfonylurea, and amylin cause beta-cell apoptosis in vitro suggest that programmed cell death may also be involved in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. Furthermore, there is evidence favoring a convergence in signaling pathways toward common effectors of beta-cell apoptosis elicited by stimuli implicated in the pathogenesis of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Signals cause beta-cell apoptosis(Fig. 4. 5.) (16-22).

In type 2 diabetes, the metabolic derangement is associated with production of inflammatory mediators in insulin-sensitive tissues leading elevated levels of circulating inflammatory mediators such as IL-6 and TNF. Further glucose has been suggested to induce beta-cell apoptosis via the induction of beta-cell synthesis of IL-1 which via autocrine action may elicit signaling cascades analogous to those seen in beta-cell destruction in type 1 diabetes (23). The blood or urine glucose and HbA1C are the only laboratory markers for diagnosis of diabetes. Therefore, the potential biomarker(s) for early detection and/or prevention of diabetes are strongly required. There are some studies to find out new biomarkers of diabetes by new technologies. Metabolomic methodologies including nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) and mass spectrometry (MS)-based metabolic profiling technologies are applied to diabetes research (24-26). There is abundant evidence that glucotoxicity and lipotoxicity contribute to impaired β -cell function in type 2 diabetes. Interestingly, amino acid (AA) derangement is also a characteristic part of the diabetic state. The effects of AA on pancreatic β -cell function have been widely explored. Wang TJ et al reported five branched-chain and aromatic amino acids had highly significant association with future diabetes: isoleucine, leucine, valine, tyrosine and phenylalanine (27). Huffman KM et al reported a factor containing large neutral amino acids was inversely related to insulin sensitivity and a factor containing fatty acids was inversely related to the acute insulin response to glucose (28). Mochida et al reported the plasma concentrations of valine, leucine, isoleucine, as well as the total branched chain amino acids, alanine, citrulline and proline, were significantly higher in the diabetic mice (29). Liu et al reported the clonal b-cell line INS-1E cells were differentially regulated (\geq 1.5- or \leq -1.5-fold) by Pro (295 transcripts), Hcy (301 transcripts), and Leu (701 transcripts). It appeared that Hcy effects changes opposite to those induced by Leu and/or Pro (30).

The clinical spectrum is very wide in patients with diabetes. Weir GC et al proposed that there are five stages in the progression of diabetes (Fig. 6), each of which is marked by important changes in β -cell mass, phenotype, and function. Although conventionally thought of as a continuum, we make the case that each has its own important characteristics (31). Stage 1 is best described as compensation: insulin secretion increases to maintain normal glucose levels in the face of insulin resistance resulting from obesity, physical inactivity, and genetic predisposition. Stage 2 occurs when glucose levels rise to levels of ~5.0–6.5 mmol/l (89–116 mg/dl)—a

stable state of β -cell adaptation. Stage 3 is an unstable period of early decompensation in which glucose levels rise relatively rapidly to stage 4, which is characterized as stable decompensation. Finally, there is the severe decompensation of stage 5 that represents profound β -cell failure with progression to ketosis. Further studies are needed to interpret different clinical spectrums of patients with T2DM.



Fig. 6. Schema of five stages of progression of diabetes (31)

2.3. Type 2 diabetes and Atherosclerosis

Diabetes impairs endothelium-dependent (nitric oxide-mediated) vasodilation before the formation of atheroma (Fig. 7) (32-33). A number of fundamental mechanisms contribute to the decreased bioavailability of endothelium-derived nitric oxide in diabetes. Hyperglycemia inhibits production of nitric oxide by blocking eNOS (Nitric Oxide Synthase) activation and increasing the production of reactive oxygen species, especially superoxide anion (O^{2-}), in endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells (34). Superoxide anion directly quenches nitric oxide by forming the toxic peroxynitrite ion,(35) which uncouples eNOS by oxidizing its cofactor, tetrahydrobiopterin, and causes eNOS to produce O^{2.} Other common abnormalities in type 2 diabetes also decrease endothelium-derived nitric oxide. Insulin resistance leads to excess liberation of free fatty acids from adipose tissue (36), which activate the signaling enzyme protein kinase C, inhibit phosphatidylinositol-3 (PI-3) kinase (an eNOS agonist pathway), and increase the production of reactive oxygen specieic (37) Production of peroxynitrite decreases synthesis of the vasodilatory and antiplatelet prostanoid prostacyclin (38). Thus, as nitric oxide bioavailability progressively decreases, concomitant increases in peroxynitrite further impair production of subsidiary vasodilators.

In addition to reducing ambient concentrations of nitric oxide, diabetes increases the production of vasoconstrictors, most important, endothelin-1, which activates endothelin-A receptors on vascular smooth muscle cell to induce vasoconstriction (Fig. 7). In addition to its modulation of vascular tone, endothelin-1 increases renal salt and water retention, stimulates the renin-angiotensin system, and induces vascular smooth muscle hypertrophy (39). Endothelin-1 activity may rise in response to insulin-mediated increases in gene expression and receptor formation, stimulation of the receptor for advanced glycation end products, and increased gene transcription induced by oxidized low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol (40-42).

Diabetes increases other endothelium-derived vasoactive substances such as

vasoconstrictor prostanoids and angiotensin II, and investigation into their pathophysiological relevance in diabetes continues (43, 44). Migration of T-cell lymphocytes and monocytes into the intima participates integrally in atherogenesis. T cells secrete cytokines that modulate lesion formation (45). Monocytes, upon reaching the subendothelial space, ingest oxidized LDL via scavenger receptors and become foam cells. Localized accumulation of foam cells leads to formation of fatty streaks, the hallmark of early atherosclerotic lesions (46). Diabetes augments these pathologic processes.

Hyperglycemia via decreased nitric oxide, increased oxidative stress, and receptor for advanced glycation end products activation increases the activation of the transcription factors nuclear factor κ B and activator protein 1 (Fig. 7). These factors regulate the expression of the genes encoding a number of mediators of atherogenesis; for example, leukocyte-cell adhesion molecules on the endothelial surface, leukocyte-attracting chemokines, such as monocyte chemoattractant proteins that recruit lymphocytes and monocytes into the vascular wall, and proinflammatory mediators found in atheroma, including interleukin 1 and tumor necrosis factor (47-49). Lipid abnormalities commonly found in diabetes, such as increased very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and excess free fatty acid liberation, also increase endothelial nuclear factor κ B and subsequent cell adhesion molecule and cytokine expression (50).

In addition to enhancing the initiation of atherogenesis, diabetes promotes plaque instability and clinical sequelae. Diabetic endothelial cells elaborate cytokines that decrease the de novo synthesis of collagen by vascular smooth muscle cells (51). Diabetes also enhances the production of matrix metalloproteinases that lead to breakdown of collagen (52). Collagen confers mechanical stability to the plaque's fibrous cap. When collagen breakdown increases and synthesis decreases, plaques may rupture more readily, a trigger to thrombus formation. Finally, an important modulator of the severity of plaque rupture is the extent of vascular occlusion by thrombus formation. In diabetes, endothelial cells increase production of tissue factor, the major procoagulant found in atherosclerotic plaques along with alterations in soluble coagulation and fibrinolytic factors (Fig. 7) (53).



Fig. 7. The pathogenesis of Atherogenesis in Diabetes (53)

ROS are produced by various pathways under diabetic conditions and involved in the development of atherosclerosis in various aspects. Hyperglycemia induces ROS through activation of the glycation reaction and electron transport chain in mitochondria. Also, advanced glycosylation end products (AGEs), insulin, and angiotensin II induce ROS through activation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase. Increased ROS are involved in the development of atherosclerosis in various aspects. (Fig. 8)(54)



Fig. 8. Role of ROS in the development of atherosclerosis (54)

2.4. Atherosclerosis and Biomarkers

A biomarker is defined as a substance used as an indicator of a biological state. Through various techniques it is objectively measured and used to assess normal or pathogenic biological processes, or of pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention. By definition it is critical that this diagnostic tool be relied upon clinically to improve accuracy of diagnosis, delineate disease subtypes, monitor disease progression, or improve prognostication and risk assessment. In addition, a biomarker may demonstrate treatment efficacy when used with disease modifying therapies, such as lipid lowering drugs.

2.4.1. hs-CRP

CRP protein is an acute phase reactant discovered by Tillett and Francis at Rockefeller University in 1930 in the blood of patients with pneumonia (55), was crystallized in 1947, and today, over 60 years later, there is still controversy about its physiology and applications in biomedicine. CRP protein is a pentraxin comprised of 5 subunits (56) (Fig. 9) which is primarily synthesized in the liver, and plays an active part in regulating the innate immune system. Since CRP mRNA levels rise in adipose tissue as CRP expression is enhanced in vitro by interleukin-6 (IL-6), adipose cells also have some ability to synthesize CRP. Innate immunity and adaptive immunity significantly modulate atherosclerosis (57-59), with both pro- and anti-atherogenic potential (60,61).

CRP binding offers a glimpse into teleological function. CRP binds to phosphocholine, commonly found in cell membranes as well as in bacterial and fungal polysaccharides. Phosphocholine is used by the placenta and nematodes to cloak them from their host immune system. Binding to complement C1q complex and factor H, CRP assists in human complement activity to promote antigen presentation and phagocytosis (62), essentially functioning as an innate opsonin. In addition, CRP binds directly with phagocyte $Fc\gamma$ receptors(63), literally becoming the interface between innate immunity, C1q on complement, and inflammation, Fcγ on macrophages. Details of CRP binding to its ligands and their implications have been recently reviewed (64). As an acute phase reactant during infections or diffuse tissue destruction, CRP concentrations may increase 50,000-fold quickly (65). A constant potent stimulus may sustain high circulating CRP concentrations, depending upon synthetic capacity; the half-life of CRP in the circulation is about 19 hours (66). Hepatic synthesis is driven at the transcriptional level by IL-6, largely expressed by macrophages, T cells, and adipocytes (67. 68). Several upstream cytokines also regulate hepatic CRP release. In part because there is overlap in signaling, plasma CRP values are related to other inflammatory markers. However, despite a plethora of research, the precise role(s) of CRP remain unclear.

Since CRP binds to LDL and can be identified within atherosclerotic plaque (69, 70), is involved with inflammatory atherogenic processes (71-82), is elevated in patients with acute (ACS) and chronic coronary syndromes (83-86) with unfavorable plaque compositions in these syndromes (87) and is associated with complications of heart failure (88) a causal role in atherothrombotic disease has long been suspected. At this time, causality remains unproven (72, 89, 90). One intriguing property of CRP is the associated inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vitro (91) and the relationship to impaired vasoreactivity and hypertension in such models (92). Overall, the evidence for a role of CRP in endothelial cell dysfunction and monocyte activation in metabolic syndrome is approaching 53% in some populations (excluding those with diabetes) (94) and the importance of endothelial dysfunction in

pathogenesis is now unassailable (95).



Fig. 9. A picture of C-reactive protein (CRP) (56)

2.4.2. Lp-PLA₂

Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (Lp-PLA₂) is a novel biomarker of vascular-specific inflammation that provides information about atherosclerotic plaque inflammation and stability. Elevated levels of serum Lp-PLA₂ are indicative of rupture prone plaque and a strong independent predictor of cardiovascular risk, including coronary artery disease, MI, and stroke (96. 97). Lp-PLA₂ is associated clinically with increased CHD risk, and there is a large body of published evidence from epidemiologic studies addressing the relationship of Lp-PLA₂ and risk of cardiovascular disease (98-100).

Biologically, Lp-PLA₂ is a vascular-specific proinflammatory enzyme that operates physiologically in the arterial intima (Fig. 10) (101). Lp-PLA₂ localizes to

atherosclerotic plaque, particularly in plaques with a necrotic core and in ruptured plaques (102). High levels of Lp-PLA₂ are found in rupture prone plaques, and it appears Lp-PLA₂ is released from these plaques into the circulation. Lp-PLA₂ is primarily produced by macrophages and then bound to various lipoproteins, including the ApoB portion of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) and lipoprotein(a) (103). Staining of coronary and carotid tissue demonstrates the presence of Lp-PLA₂ in the thin fibrous cap of rupture-prone plaques, but not in the early-stage plaques (102, 104). Coronary and carotid tissue concentrations of Lp-PLA₂ are notably very high in the rupture-prone shoulder region of thin fibrous cap atheromas, and histopathologic stains reveal that Lp-PLA₂ co-localizes with macrophages and oxidized LDL in atherosclerotic coronary and carotid plaques (105).



Fig. 10. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 and atherogenesis (101)

Lp-PLA₂ hydrolyzes phospholipids on oxidized LDL particles in the

subendothelial space (Fig. 11) (101). Lp-PLA₂ hydrolyzes the center (sn-2) ester bond of phospholipids which yields oxidized fatty acids and lysophosphatidylcholine (lysoPC), a molecule with a range of potentially atherogenic effects, including chemoattraction of monocytes, increased expression of adhesion molecules, and inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide production (106. 107). In this manner, a vicious cycle is set up that leads to recruitment of monocytes to the intima, where they differentiate to become macrophages, and, ultimately, foam cells, while at the same time locally producing more Lp-PLA₂. Furthermore, lysoPC has been found to be cytotoxic to vascular smooth muscle cells and can induce local production of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP's), which can thin the fibrous cap and destabilize the architectural integrity of an atheromatous plaque through destruction of the collagen matrix, increasing its propensity to rupture (108).



Fig. 11. Lp-PLA2 hydrolyzes oxidized LDL to release proinflammatory lipids (101) In terms of its utility as a circulating biomarker, Lp-PLA₂ produced by activated

macrophages and foam cells reenters the bloodstream and can be quantitatively measured. As reported by Lavi et al (103), Lp-PLA₂ blood concentrations sampled simultaneously in the human coronary sinus demonstrated a net increase in Lp-PLA₂ levels as blood traverses the coronary vascular bed from individuals with significant atherosclerotic plaque. However, when no coronary plaque is present, a decrease in Lp-PLA₂ levels is found. This study also showed that the lysoPC produced by Lp-PLA₂-mediated hydrolysis of oxidized LDL is highly associated with coronary artery endothelial dysfunction. Lp-PLA2 is a marker of vascular-specific inflammation and reflects the presence of rupture prone plaque. It is an independent predictor of cardiovascular risk, over and above traditional risk factors. However, tests for other robust biomarkers may be clinically useful in an additive manner. For example, it has been shown that while these markers are independent predictors of risk, Lp-PLA₂ added to hs-CRP provides significantly more risk assessment information over hs-CRP alone. With regard to hs-CRP as a standalone test, the measured values are quite variable, requiring several independent measurements over the course of time to confirm the level, since general inflammation, infection and adiposity could be driving the value, while Lp-PLA₂ has high specificity and low biovariability. Lp-PLA₂ activity and mass each showed continuous associations with risk of coronary heart disease, similar in magnitude to that with non-HDL cholesterol or systolic blood pressure in this population. Associations of Lp-PLA₂ mass and activity are not exclusive to vascular outcomes, and the vascular associations depend at least partly on lipids (Fig. 12, 13) (109).

History of vascular disease*	Number of participants	Number o events	f RR (95% CI)	
A Lp-PLA ₂ activity				
Coronary heart disease: 12 studies†				
No history	16145	1534		1.03 (0.95-1.12)
Stable disease	24976	2429	_ _	1.17 (1.09-1.27)
Overall	41121	3963	-0-	1.10 (1.05-1.16)
Ischaemic stroke: 4 studies†				
No history	8663	456		1.01 (0.71-1.43)
Stable disease	17437	673		1.17 (0.78-1.76)
Overall	26100	1129	+	1.08 (0.97-1.20)
Vascular death: 9 studies				
No history	13143	459		1.05 (0.93-1.19)
Stable disease	24962	2230	_	1.21 (1.12-1.30)
Overall	38105	2689	-0	1.16 (1.09-1.24)
Non-vascular death: 8 studies				
No history	13143	1201		1.07 (0.93-1.24)
Stable disease	23941	1594		1.15 (1.02-1.31)
Overall	37084	2795	-0	1.10 (1.04-1.17)
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
B Lp-PLA, mass				
Coronary heart disease: 12 studies†				
No history	17 089	1813		1.09 (1.02-1.16)
Stable disease	23 202	2548		1.14 (1.07-1.21)
Overall	40 291	4361	-0-	1.11 (1.07-1.16)
Ischaemic stroke: 5 studies†				
No history	9704	1252		1.22 (0.99-1.51)
Stable disease	17 825	845		1.02 (0.73-1.43)
Overall	27 529	2097		1.14 (1.02-1.27)
Vascular death: 11 studies				
No history	15 672	763	_ _	1.00 (0.92-1.09)
Stable disease	23 202	2126		1.26 (1.19-1.34)
Overall	38 874	2889	-0	1.13 (1.05-1.22)
Non-vascular death: 11 studies				
No history	15 672	1556	+	1.09 (0.97-1.21)
Stable disease	23 202	1567		1.17 (1.04-1.32)
Overall	38 874	3123	-0	1.10 (1.03-1.18)
			07 0.8 0.9 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.41.5	

Fig. 12. Risk ratios for coronary heart disease, ischaemic stroke, and vascular and non-vascular mortality (109)





Fig. 13. Adjusted risk ratios for coronary heart disease per 1 SD higher baseline Lp-PLA2 activity, mass, and several conventional risk factors (109)

Consensus expert panel recommendations advocate for the measurement of Lp-PLA₂ as an adjunct to traditional risk factor assessment to improve the prediction of cardiovascular risk (110). It is recommended that Lp-PLA₂ testing be performed in patients at moderate risk, those defined as apparently healthy with two or more traditional risk factors or a 10-year Framingham risk score of 10–20%, as well as high risk, those with established coronary heart disease (CHD) or CHD risk equivalents, who will benefit from more aggressive lifestyle changes and lipid-modifying therapies. The Lp-PLA₂ cut point, or clinical decision threshold, for risk reassignment is >200 ng/mL. The consensus panel agreed to this threshold based upon review of Lp-PLA₂ studies (111-113) which demonstrated a sufficient increase in the risk of cardiovascular events above this level to warrant more aggressive patient management. Patients at moderate risk with Lp-PLA₂ levels >200 ng/mL are reclassified as having high CHD risk status, while those persons with known CHD or CHD risk equivalent and elevated levels of Lp-PLA₂ are reclassified as very high risk (Fig. 14)(101).



Fig. 14. Algorithm for Lp-PLA2 screening and utility for refining cardiovascular risk estimation (101)

It is not recommended that Lp-PLA₂ be measured in patients at low risk for cardiovascular disease (one or fewer risk factors). Patients with two or more risk factors (10 year Framingham risk score of 10–20%) are optimal candidates for Lp-PLA₂ screening. If the serum level of this enzyme is <200 ng/mL, then their level of risk requires no further adjustment. However, if the serum level of Lp-PLA₂ is >200 ng/mL, then the patient is reassigned to high risk status and the LDL-C and non-HDL-C targets are adjusted to <100 mg/dL and <130 mg/dL, respectively. Among patients who are high risk (established CHD, diabetes mellitus, abdominal aortic aneurysm, peripheral vascular disease, symptomatic carotid artery disease, or a 10 year Framingham risk score >20%), consideration can be given to further refining risk estimation with an Lp-PLA₂ measurement. If the patient's serum Lp-PLA₂ measurement >200 ng/mL, then the patient can be reclassified as very high risk, and the LDL-C and non-HDL-C targets should be <70 mg/dL and <100 mg/dL, respectively. (110).
2.4.3. oxidized LDL

Modified LDL (ie, oxidized LDL [oxLDL]) has been shown to contribute to atherosclerosis development, and that has prompted attempts to use circulating oxLDL as a disease biomarker. Santos et al examined the relationship of human immunoglobulin G (IgG) anti-oxLDL antibodies with cardiovascular disease risk markers in stable individuals and in patients with acute coronary syndrome. They observed that acute inflammatory and metabolic conditions decrease titers of human antibodies of IgG class against oxLDL. They also suggested that circulating antioxLDL antibodies could be associated with a protective role in atherosclerosis (114).

2.5. Lipidomics and Metabolomics

2.5.1 Lipidomics and Molecular Lipids

The recent development of mass spectrometry-driven lipid analysis approaches called "lipidomics" has made it possible to resolve complex lipidomes to their molecular lipid species level at high-throughput and quality required for analyses of clinical cohorts (115-117). As a result of the high sensitivity and selectivity of the methods, a lipidome-wide analysis of minute sample amounts has become feasible. Present technologies are capable of identifying lipids with different sum compositions (ie, phosphatidylcholine [PC] 34:1) (118), but more important is the identification of molecular lipid species, (eg, PC 16:0/18:1) (119). In the latter analysis, information of the type of fatty acids and their positions attached to the glycerol backbone making up the particular PC molecule is retrieved. Furthermore, in the same analysis, it is now possible to simultaneously determine the double bond positions of the fatty acids, thus providing information of structurally defined molecular lipid species (eg, PC 16:0/18:1n9)(120). Although similar information can be obtained by traditional lipid analysis approaches, such as thin-layer chromatography in combination with gas chromatography, not only does it require much larger sample amounts and more laborious sample preparation, but it does not deliver the molecular lipid species.

There are cases where molecular lipids require preseparation prior to the mass spectrometric analysis. In such circumstances, targeted lipidomics is preferred for enabling the reliable retrieval of high qualitative data. In targeted lipidomics, lipid extracts are separated by liquid chromatography (LC), and eluted lipid species are monitored by online mass spectrometry (121, 122). Multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) analysis offers both the high selectivity and sensitivity necessary for quantification of low abundant lipid species (123, 124). In an optimized setting, the MRM approach can offer the highest detection sensitivity possible to date. However, due to the narrow time window of eluting peaks, especially when using ultra high-performance LC (UHPLC), only a restricted number of MRM transitions are feasible when high qualitative and quantification of only a select number of molecular lipids that can be controlled by appropriate lipid standards to minimize possible errors arising from changes in the lipid ionization efficiency.

Despite the fact that lipidomics is thought of as another "omics" technology,

the type of data and information it delivers is considerably different from transcriptomics and proteomics. Measurement of lipid concentrations provides phenotypic information about a state of an organism determined by genetic regulation, functionality of protein machinery, environmental factors, and diet. When a disease or condition is studied, transcriptomics and proteomics will indicate what genes or proteins are affected. Lipidomic measurements, in turn, will bring to light the consequences expressed by lipid concentration changes in biofluid and tissue. Thus, lipidomics provides a readout that is closely connected to the cause of the disease (eg, accumulation of fatty substance in the arteries). Detailed lipidomic information will also be useful in tailoring proper treatments to the right patients.

Lipidomics has also proven to be an efficient way for detecting adverse drug actions. So far, drug-induced liver and muscle toxicities have been demonstrated in plasma lipidomic profiles. The PC to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) ratio has been observed to reflect hepatocyte membrane fluidity changes, allowing a sensitive measure for liver toxicity (125). Also, by taking advantage of the molecular lipid information, the authors found new insight into the mechanisms behind the membrane fluidity alterations. Laaksonen R et al reported that a distinct plasma lipid pattern can be used to monitor statin-induced gene expression changes in human skeletal muscle and, thus, can detect statin-induced muscle toxicity (126).

Currently, lipidomics attempts to characterize structurally defined molecular lipids from a single analysis (127) and localize lipids in tissues such as aortic wall (128) and arterial plaques (129). Maturation of lipidomics and evolution of new lipid-labeling techniques will not only improve lipidome characterization, but also identify the deleterious molecular lipids involved in the dysfunction, where this occurs inside the organism and at what rate. Thus, lipidomics is a prerequisite for advancing the cardiovascular disease (CVD) biology and promoting the discovery of cardiovascular disease biomarkers and new drug targets in coming years.

2.5.2. Metabolomics

The term metabolomics (and the related term metabonomics) was coined at the end of the 1990s to describe the development of approaches which aim to measure all the metabolites that are present within a cell, tissue or organism during a genetic modification or physiological stimulus (Fig. 15) (130-132). Metabolites are small molecules that participate in general metabolic reactions and that are required for the maintenance, growth and normal function of a cell. The term metabolome, derived from the word genome, refers to the complete set of metabolites in an organism and its organelles (131, 133) or the total complement of metabolites in a cell (134). In this way, metabolomics and metabonomics refer to the use of analytical methods to identify and quantify all metabolites in a biological system, as well as the monitoring of changes in the metabolome of a biofluid, cell culture or tissue sample following perturbation (132, 133).

It has already been used to identify the function of genes, describe the effects of toxicological, pharmaceutical, nutritional and environmental interventions, and to build integrated databases of metabolite concentrations across human and research animal populations. Metabolomics provides nutrition with an invaluable tool for determining the distributions of metabolite concentrations in humans, the relationship of these metabolite concentrations to disease, and the extent to which nutrition can modulate metabolite concentrations (135).



Fig. 15. A schematic view of metabolomics N (140)

Metabolomics involves the identification and quantification of metabolites present in a biological system. Three different approaches can be used: metabolomic fingerprinting, metabolic profiling, and metabolic footprinting,

There are several analytical strategies that can be used to analyse the metabolome (136), such as nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR)(137), Fourier transformation

infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR)(138. 139), and mass spectrometry (MS) coupled to separation techniques such as high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC), gas chromatography (GC), or capillary electrophoresis (CE). The combination of these different analytical techniques offers important advantages when analyzing the complete metabolome (fig. 16) (140). However, because of the very diverse range of metabolites found within the cell, in conjunction with the large dynamic range of metabolite concentrations, none of these technologies, even when used in conjunction with one another, can be relied upon to generate a complete metabolomic description of even the simplest organism.



Fig. 16. A comparison of NMR and LC–MS analysis of urinary metabolite profiles (140)

High field ¹H NMR is one of the preferred platforms for urine and plasma analysis (141, 142), as it is a nondestructive technique that does not require prior separation of the analytes and it provides detailed information on molecular structure. For example, the capacity to predict the occurrence of exercise-induced ischemia in patients with suspected CAD was investigated by NMR blood analysis, demonstrating lactate, glucose, lipids, and long-chain fatty acids to be the main metabolites involved (143). Xanthine and ascorbate were proposed as possible markers of plaque formation in an atherosclerotic mouse model (144) and lipoprotein subclasses can now be analyzed by a commercial NMR-based protocol called NMR LipoProfile (145, 146). However, one of the main limitations of NMR is the poor sensitivity, although this can be improved enormously when it is combined with mass spectrometry.

Mass spectrometry (MS) is a rapidly growing technology for the comprehensive profiling of small molecules (metabolites) and proteins (147, 148). Indeed. gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC-MS) (149), liquid chromatography/mass spectrometry (LC-MS) (150), and capillary electrophoresis /mass spectrometry (CE-MS) (151) are the most powerful techniques for metabolite separation and analysis. GC-MS provides an extraordinary resolution, permitting the separation of structurally similar compounds that would otherwise be very difficult to separate by HPLC. However, this technique requires the analyte to be volatile and thermally stable. In some cases, a chemical derivatization step is required prior to the chromatographic separation in order to render polar metabolites volatile. Some of the metabolites best suited for GC-MS include fatty acids, organic acids, steroids, di-



glycerides, sugars and sugar alcohols.

Fig. 17. Suitability of gas and liquid chromatography for metabolomic analysis based on metabolite polarity. Courtesy of Agilent Technologies (152)

For those metabolites that are not volatile and which cannot be derivatized, LC is the separation technique of choice. Thus, LC-MS can analyze a much wider range of chemical species (polar and nonpolar metabolites) with ample selectivity and sensitivity. Apart from reversed phase chromatography (RP-LC), which is widely used in metabolomics applications, hydrophilic interaction chromatography (HILIC) is a complementary approach suitable for very polar metabolites (nonvolatile). Indeed, the metabolites suited to analysis by GC or HPLC can be represented according to their polarity (Fig. 17) (152). Similarly, capillary electrophoresis (CE) can be coupled to a mass spectrometer (MS), with the particular advantage of improving the resolution of separation as narrower peaks than with LC are obtained. Accordingly, different approaches have been described in combination with ion trap (IT), triple quadrupole (QQQ), time of flight (TOF), and Q-TOF instruments. The main advantage of QQQ and Q-TOF instruments is that they provide the possibility of identifying the compounds by tandem MS/MS analyses. In order to obtain a full overview of the detectable molecules, electrospray ionization (ESI) should be performed in both positive and negative modes on the same sample.

In principle, metabolites can be measured in several body fluids or tissues, although plasma and urine are the most commonly used biological matrices in cardiovascular research due to their availability and clinical relevance as a source of potential biomarkers. Sample pretreatment varies depending on the analytical platform chosen (Fig. 18) (153), Metabolites from frozen tissue samples can be extracted and simultaneously fractionated by treating the ground tissue with mixtures of organic solvents, such that molecules are extracted in different fractions according to their polarity. If a biological fluid is the starting material (urine, serum, plasma), metabolite fractions are usually obtained after proteins are removed by precipitation. The crude or diluted sample can then be injected directly, although matrix effects causing ion suppression should be expected. If analyzed by LC-MS(/MS), it may be desirable to preconcentrate (e.g., by lyophilisation) or fractionate the sample prior to chromatographic separation. In case of GC-MS(/MS), preconcentration can be performed by solid phase microextraction (SPME) with or without head space (HS) procedures, which are particularly useful when analysing volatile organic compounds



(VOCs). For CE analysis, the salt content should be minimized in the sample.

Fig. 18. Schematic view of the sample pretreatment for metabolomic analysis of frozen tissue or biological fluid prior to GC-MS or LC-MS analysis (153)

2.5.3. Metabolites : New biomarkers

Chen X et al showed that palmitate significantly contributes to atherosclerosis development via targeting apoptosis and inflammation pathways (154). von Zur Muhlen C et al analyzed urine proteom of 38 patients with coronary artery disease (CAD) and showed a combination of 17 urinary polypeptides allowed separation of both groups in the test set with a sensitivity of 81%, a specificity of 92%, and an accuracy of 84%. Sequencing of urinary marker peptides identified fragments of collagen alpha1 (I and III) demonstrated to be expressed in atherosclerotic plaques of human aorta (155).

Recently, non-hypothesis-driven metabolomic screenings have been used for the identification of novel CVD biomarkers. Zhang et al (156) utilized an ultra-fast liquid chromatography coupled with ion trap time-of-flight mass spectrometry (UFLC/MS-IT-TOF) to study plasma and urine metabolic profiles of atherosclerosis rats. 12 metabolites in rat plasma and 8 metabolites in urine were identified as potential biomarkers. Concentrations of leucine, phenylalanine, tryptophan, acetylcarnitine, butyrylcarnitine, propionylcarnitine and spermine in plasma and 3-O-methyl-dopa, ethyl N2-acetyl-L-argininate, leucylproline, glucuronate, t6A N(6)-(N-threonylcarbonyl)-adenosine and methyl-hippuric acid in urine decreased in atherosclerosis rats. Their observations suggest that abnormal metabolism of phenylalanine, tryptophan, bile acids, and amino acids might be related to atherosclerosis development. In addition, Zha et al (157) identified a metabolic fingerprint of 21 compounds in hamsters that could be a potential marker for the development of atherosclerosis. Do Yup Lee et al (158) identified twenty-one compounds as markers involved in the development to atherosclerosis.

2.5. Arterial stiffness and ba-PWV

Pulse Wave Velocity (PWV) is now widely used to evaluate arterial stiffness in clinical situation. It is an easy and convenient clinical diagnostic tool for the patient. PWV correlates with other markers reflecting the severity of atherosclerosis such as ultrasound examination of carotid artery. Kim et al reported subjects with metabolic syndrome had significantly higher arterial pulse wave velocity than subjects without metabolic syndrome, ba-PWV is also known positively correlated with HbA1c and duration of diabetes (159). Ohnishi H et al showed there was a significant positive correlation between fasting blood sugar (FBS) and mean right/left ba-PWV (Fig. 19). There was also a significant positive correlation between HbA1c and mean right/left ba-PWV (Fig. 19). A comparison of the values of ba-PWV in the three groups showed that the ba-PWV value increased with increasing plasma glucose level (Fig. 20). Significant differences were found between the ba-PWV values in the normal and impaired fasting glucose (IFG) groups (1,518 vs. 1,673 cm/s, P = 0.01) and in the normal and diabetic groups (1,518 vs. 1,771 cm/s, P < 0.0001). The results of multiple regression analysis showed that FBS was closely related to ba-PWV, as well as to age and systolic blood pressure (SBP), suggesting that FBS is independently related to ba-PWV (160).

In addition, several studies demonstrated that increased PWV is a predictor of future cardiovascular events in patients with either hypertension or diabetes mellitus. Thus, PWV is thought to be applicable as a marker relating with the severity of atherosclerosis and/or predicting future atherosclerotic cardiovascular events. Age and blood pressure is a major determinant of PWV. Anti-hypertensive medication or statins improve PWV, but it has not been fully evaluated whether these improvement reflect the improvement of prognosis. Therefore, the significance of PWV as a surrogate marker for the treatment of atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk has not been fully established. Carotid-femoral PWV is used as a conventional method. Recently, more simple method: brachial-ankle PWV is available in clinical settings (161).



Fig. 19. Correlation between FBS, HbA1c and ba-PWV (160)



Fig. 20. A comparison of the values of ba-PWV in the three groups (160)

Carotid-femoral PWV is most commonly measured by applanation tonometry, particularly in Europe, but this method is critically dependent upon the accurate placing of transducers over the arteries and is both time-consuming and complex. Brachial-ankle PWV is a suitable screening method because of its technical simplicity and shorter measurement time.

The PWV of the brachial artery (ba) and the ankle was measured by applying air pressure with the aid of a volume plethysmograph. However, brachialankle PWV includes peripheral component of artery in its assessment of arterial stiffness, and it has not been fully concluded that brachial-ankle PWV has a similar potential as a marker using the management of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease as carotid-femoral PWV. Many following studies by using ba-PWV were done. Tsuchikura S et al showed ba-PWV is an index of arterial stiffness showing similar characteristics to those of aortic PWV (162). Some studies were done to know relation ba-PWV and clinical markers. Andoh N et al reported baPWV is significantly associated with serum levels of hs-CRP in Japanese men (163), Saijo et al reported ba-PWV is associated not only with conventional cardiovascular risk factors but also with new risk factors, such as inflammation, gamma-glutamyltransferase, chronic kidney disease, and psychosocial factors (164). Miyaki K et al reported linear increase in ba-PWV occurred with increasing MS components after adjustment for potential confounding factors (165). Imanishi R et al reported high ba-PWV was shown to be a good independent predictor for the presence of CAD in men (166). However, a suitable cut-off value has yet to be established in each country. Yamashina A et al suggested a cut-off value of 14.0 m/s to screen subjects, especially in middleaged ones, of either gender in Japan (167). Aso K et al compared ba-PWV and carotid PWV (from heart to carotid) to study the relation of these two types of PWVs to diabetic complications in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. The ba-PWV was determined by oscillometrically measuring the pulse volume record at the upper arm and ankles. The carotid PWV was measured tonometrically. The correlations of these variables with albuminuria, peripheral neuropathy, coefficient of variation of R-R intervals (CV R-R) on the electrocardiogram at rest, and retinopathy were examined by logistic regression analysis. After adjustment for age, systolic blood pressure, and duration of diabetes, logistic regression analysis showed that ba-PWV was directly related to the frequencies of albuminuria, decreased CV R-R, peripheral neuropathy, and retinopathy. In contrast, carotid PWV did not significantly correlate with any diabetic complications. Oscillometrically determined ba-PWV was related to the risk of diabetic microvascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and suggested to be useful for assessing risk factors of diabetic complications (168).

However ba-PWV has some limitations. Ba-PWV is influenced by blood pressure. With the ba-PWV technique, blood pressure compensation is not carried out. Furthermore, the pulse pressure is measured by air pressure; therefore any stimulus that exerts pressure on an artery may influence these results. Due to these reasons, a cardie-ankle vascular index (CAVI) has been proposed in which the pressure wave form indicating the closing of the aortic valve appears in the form of an arterial pressure wave after a fixed delay time (169).

3. MATERIALS and METHODS

3.1. Subjects

Study participants included 53 men between 35 and 65 years of age. Participants were recruited during routine check-ups at a health promotion center at the National Health Insurance Corporation IIsan Hospital. Male patients with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes were defined as those with a fasting serum glucose concentration ≥126 mg/dL. Twenty-six men meeting this criterion and 27 age- and BMI-matched healthy men with normal fasting glucose levels (<126 mg/dL) were included. Exclusion criteria included any diagnoses of vascular, renal, liver, or acute or chronic inflammatory disease. Patients taking any drugs or supplements were also excluded. Before participation, the purpose of the study was carefully explained to all patients, and informed consent was obtained. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Yonsei University.

3.2. Anthropometric parameters, blood pressure, and blood collection

Body weights and heights were measured in the morning unclothed and without shoes, and used to calculate BMI (kg/m²). Waist and hip circumferences were measured with a tape measure horizontally at the umbilicus with participants in the standing position after normal expiration and used to calculate the waist-to-hip ratio (WHR). Blood pressures (BPs) were measured in the left arm of seated participants with an automatic BP monitor (TM-2654, A&D, Tokyo, Japan) after a 20-min rest. After a 12-h fasting period, venous blood specimens were collected in EDTA-treated

or plain tubes, centrifuged to yield plasma or serum, and stored at -70°C until analysis.

3.3. Assessment of dietary intake

Dietary intake was assessed with a 24-h recall method and semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire. Dietary energy values and nutrient content were calculated using the Computer Aided Nutritional analysis program (CAN-pro 3.0. Korean Nutrition Society, Seoul, Korea). Total energy expenditure (TEE) was calculated from activity patterns, including basal metabolic rate (BMR), physical activity for 24 h and specific dynamic actions of food. The BMR of each participant was calculated with the Harris-Benedict equation.

3.4. Serum glucose concentration, insulin concentration, and homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR)

Fasting glucose levels were measured using a glucose oxidase method with a Beckman Glucose Analyzer (Beckman Instruments, Irvine, CA). Insulin levels were measured by radioimmunoassay using commercial kits from Immuno Nucleo Corporation (Stillwater, MN). Insulin resistance (IR) was calculated by the homeostasis model assessment (HOMA) using the following equation: HOMA-IR = [fasting insulin (μ IU/mL) × fasting glucose (mmol/L)]/22.5.

3.5. Serum lipid profile

Fasting serum concentrations of total cholesterol and triglyceride were measured

using commercially available kits on a Hitachi 7150 Autoanalyzer (Hitachi Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). After precipitation of serum chylomicrometers using dextran sulfate magnesium, LDL and HDL cholesterol concentrations in the supernatants were measured using an enzymatic method. LDL cholesterol was indirectly estimated in participants with serum triglyceride concentrations <400 mg/dL using the Friedewald formula: LDL cholesterol = total cholesterol - [HDL cholesterol + (triglyceride/5)].

3.6. Lipid peroxidation: plasma MDA, oxidized LDL, and urinary 8-epi-PGF $_{2\alpha}$

Plasma malondialdehyde (MDA) was measured from thiobarbituric acid-reactive substances (TBARS Assay Kit, Zepto-Metrix Co., Buffalo, NY). Assays were read using a Victor2 plate reader (Perkin-Elmer Life Sciences, Turku, Finland) at 540 nm. Plasma oxidized LDL (ox-LDL) was measured using an enzyme immunoassay (Mercodia, Uppsala, Sweden), and the resulting color reaction was read at 450 nm on a Victor2 plate reader. Urine was collected in polyethylene bottles containing 1% butylated hydroxytoluene after a 12-h fast. Bottles were immediately covered with aluminum foil and stored at -70°C until analyzed. 8-epi-prostaglandin F_{2a} (8-epi-PGF_{2a}) was measured using an enzyme immunoassay (BIOXYTECH Urinary 8-epi-PGF_{2a} Assay kit, OXIS International, OR). The resulting color reaction from the enzyme immunoassay was read at 650 nm on a Victor² plate reader. Urinary 8-epi-PGF_{2a} concentrations were expressed as pmol/mmol creatinine.

3.7. Inflammatory marker: serum hs-CRP, IL-1 β , IL-6, and TNF- α concentrations

Serum high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) concentrations were measured with an Express⁺ autoanalyzer (Chiron Diagnostics Co., Walpole, MA) using a commercially available, high-sensitivity CRP-Latex (II) X2 kit (Seiken Laboratories Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). Serum interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) concentrations were measured with a Bio-plex human cytokine panel (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) using a Fluorokine MultiAnalyte Profiling (MAP) cytokine multiple kits and analytes (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN).

3.8. Plasma Lp-PLA₂ activity and adiponectin concentration

The activity of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 (Lp-PLA₂), also known as platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase, was measured using a previously described modified method (170). Plasma adiponectin concentrations were measured using an enzyme immunoassay (Human Adiponectin ELISA kit, B- Bridge International Inc., CA). Assays were read using a Victor2 plate reader at 450 nm, and wavelength correction was set to 540 nm.

3.9. Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity (ba-PWV)

Ba-PWV was measured using an automatic waveform analyzer (model VP-1000; Nippon Colin Ltd., Komaki, Japan) using a previously described methods (171). Participants were examined in the supine position after 5 min-bed rest. Electrocardiogram electrodes were placed on both wrists, and a microphone for the phonogram was placed on the left edge of the sternum. ba-PWVs were recorded using a semiconductor pressure sensor (1200-Hz sample acquisition frequency) and calculated using the equation: $(La-Lb)/\Delta$ Tba. The distance from the suprasternal notch to the elbow (La) and to the ankle (Lb) were calculated by: La=[0.2195×height of subject (cm)]-2.0734 and Lb=[0.8129×height of subject (cm)]+12.328. The time interval between the arm and ankle distance (Δ Tba) was defined as the pulse transit time between brachial and tibial arterial pressure waveforms. The average ba-PWV from both left and right sides was used for analysis (correlation between the right and left ba-PWVs: r²=0.925, p<0.001).

3.10. Fatty acid composition in serum phospholipids

Total lipids were extracted with chloroform:methanol (2:1, v/v) as described by Folch et al (172). Phospholipids were methylated as described by Lepage and Roy after separation using thin-layer chromatography (173). Fatty acid methyl esters were analyzed by gas chromatography (HP 7890A, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA). Fatty acids were identified by comparing their retention times with those of standard fatty acid methyl esters. Percentages of individual fatty acids were calculated according to the peak areas relative to the total area (total fatty acid area was set at 100%).

3.11. Metabolic profiling of plasma samples by UPLC/Q-TOF MS analysis

3.11.1. Sample preparation and analysis

Prior 400 μL to analysis, extract mix solution (acetonitrile:methanol=1:1:1, v/v/v) was added to 100 µL plasma. After shaking, the mixture was centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C. The supernatant was evaporated to dryness under nitrogen, dissolved in 80% methanol, and transferred into a vial. A 10-µL sample was injected into the UPLC/Q-TOF MS (Waters, Milford, MA). The plasma extract was injected into an Acquity UPLC BEH C18 column ($2.1 \times$ 50 mm, 1.7 µm; Waters) in line with the UPLC system and equilibrated with water containing 0.1% formic acid. Samples were eluted by an acetonitrile gradient containing 0.1% formic acid at a flow rate of 0.4 mL/min for 25 min, and metabolites were separated by UPLC, analyzed, and assigned by Q-TOF MS. The Q-TOF was operated in ESI-positive mode. The capillary and sampling cone voltages were set at 3 kV and 30 V, respectively. The desolvation flow was set to 700 L/h at a temperature of 250°C, and the source temperature was set to 120°C. MS data were collected in the range of m/z 50-1000 with a 0.2-s scan time and 0.02-s interscan delay time. MS/MS spectra of metabolites were obtained by a collision energy ramp from 10-30 eV. The accurate mass and composition for the precursor and fragment ions were calculated and sequenced by MassLynx (Waters) incorporated in the instrument.

3.11.2. Data processing and identification of metabolites

All MS data-related information including retention times, m/z, and ion intensities was extracted by MarkerLynx software (Waters) incorporated in the instrument, and the resulting MS data were assembled into a matrix. The following MarkerLynx parameters were set: peak width at 5%, height 1 s, intensity threshold 120 counts, mass window 0.04 amu, retention time window 0.15 min, noise elimination level 6, and mass tolerance 0.04 Da. Peak integration was performed using Apex Track integration. Metabolites were identified with the Chemspider (www.chemspider.com) and Human Metabolome (www.hmdb.ca) databases. Identified compounds were matched by authentic standards based on both retention time and mass spectra. Authentic standards were purchased from Sigma Chemical (St. Louis, MO), Crystal Chem (Chicago, IL), and Avanti Polar Lipids (Alabaster, AL). *MS/MS fragmentation* data of identified compounds were obtained by collision energy ramp from 10-30 eV and matched to authentic standards.

3.12. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS ver12.0 (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences, SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine the normality of the distribution, and skewed variables were logarithmically transformed for statistical analysis. For descriptive purposes, mean values are presented using untransformed values. Results are expressed as the mean \pm standard error (SE). A two-tailed P value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Pearson's correlation coefficients were used to examine the relationships between variables. Differences in clinical variables, including mass intensities of plasma metabolites between the two groups, were tested by independent t-test with the Mann-Whitney U-test. In addition, multivariate statistical analysis was performed using SIMCA-P⁺ software version 12.0 (Umetrics, Umeå, Sweden). Cross-validation with seven cross-validation groups was used throughout to determine the number of principal components. Partial least-squares discriminant analysis (PLS-DA) was used as the classification method for modeling the discrimination between the diabetes and control subjects by visualizing the score plot or S-plot using the first and second PLS components. The goodness of the fit was quantified by R²Y, while the predictive ability was indicated by Q²Y. Generally, R²Y, which describes how well data in the training set are mathematically reproduced, varies between 0 and 1, with 1 indicating a model with a perfect fit. Furthermore, models with Q²Y greater ≥ 0.5 are considered to have good predictive capability (174).

4. RESULTS

4.1. Clinical characteristics and nutrient intake

Clinical characteristics and estimates of daily nutritional intake of healthy men with normal fasting serum glucose levels and men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes are shown in Table 1. No significant differences were observed in age, BMI, smoking, alcohol consumption, serum levels of insulin, total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, HDL-cholesterol, and serum GPT. Men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes showed significantly higher percentages of body fat (P=0.008), larger waist circumferences (P=0.031), higher serum glucose levels (P<0.001), HOMA-IR (P<0.001), higher serum triglyceride levels (P=0.001), and lower GPT levels than healthy men. Additionally, diabetes patients showed a trend toward higher levels of serum free fatty acids (P=0.089). There was no significant difference between the groups with respect to total energy intake (TEI), total energy expenditure (TEE), or the proportion of caloric intake from macronutrients; however, the ratio of TEI to TEE was significantly higher in diabetes patients than healthy men (P=0.031).

	Healthy men (n=27)	Diabetes patients (n=26)	Р
Age (yrs)	50.0 ± 1.27	49.2 ± 1.40	0.728
Body mass index (kg/m ²)	24.6 ± 0.40	25.1 ± 0.35	0.364
Body fat (%)	21.0 ± 0.88	23.9 ± 0.67	0.008
Waist (cm)	86.2 ± 1.01	89.0 ± 0.74	0.031
¹ WHR	0.91 ± 0.01	0.92 ± 0.01	0.314
Cigarette smoker, n (%)	9 (47.4)	10 (52.6)	0.779
Alcohol drinker, n (%)	18 (43.9)	23 (56.1)	0.099
Systolic BP (mmHg)	120.2 ± 2.17	132.4 ± 2.44	0.001
Diastolic BP (mmHg)	73.8 ± 1.67	82.5 ± 1.67	0.001
Glucose (mg/dL) [∮]	91.0 ± 1.21	165.2 ± 7.21	< 0.001
Insulin $(\mu U/mL)^{s}$	8.34 ± 0.48	8.95 ± 0.82	0.993
² HOMA-IR ^{<i>§</i>}	1.88 ± 0.12	3.69 ± 0.42	< 0.001
Free fatty acid $(uEq/L)^{\$}$	483.2 ± 37.3	634.1 ± 54.2	0.089
Triglyceride $(mg/dL)^{\circ}$	102.0 ± 10.3	169.0 ± 15.7	0.001
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	194.3 ± 4.80	189.3 ± 5.69	0.373
LDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	121.0 ± 5.73	111.7 ± 3.83	0.227
HDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	52.8 ± 2.77	48.0 ± 2.52	0.196
GOT	24.0 ± 1.00	21.9 ± 1.29	0.046
GPT	23.0 ± 1.68	25.8 ± 2.11	0.344
Estimates of daily nutrient intakes [†]			
Total energy intake (kcal/d)	2452.2 ± 26.2	2521.1 ± 38.9	0.200
Carbohydrate (g/d)	379.7 ± 4.23	392.0 ± 5.57	0.105
Protein (g/d)	106.7 <u>+</u> 1.87	107.7 <u>+</u> 2.64	0.993
Fat (g/d)	58.4 ± 0.83	58.5 ± 1.50	0.644
Alcohol (g/d)	13.3 ± 2.60	19.9 ± 4.11	0.387
Total energy expenditure (kcal/d)	2512.7 ± 31.2	2525.1 ± 36.5	0.908
³ TEI/TEE	1.01 ± 0.01	1.05 ± 0.01	0.031

 Table 1. Clinical characteristics and nutrient intake of healthy men and men

 with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes

Data are mean \pm SE. ^{*f*} Tested by logarithmic transformation. ¹Waist-to-hip ratio. ²HOMA-IR = {fasting insulin (μ U/mL) x fasting glucose (mmol/L)}/22.5. ³total energy intake/total energy expenditure. Tested by independent *t*-test with the Mann-Whitney U-test. [†]Nutrient intake, obtained from weighed food records and calculated using the database of the computerized Korean food code.

4.2. Lipid peroxides, inflammatory markers, and arterial stiffness

Compared to healthy men, men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes showed higher plasma levels of ox-LDL (P=0.021) and MDA (P=0.028); higher urinary 8-epi-PGF_{2a} levels (P=0.001); higher serum levels of hs-CRP (P=0.027), IL-6 (P=0.011), and TNF- α (P=0.031); and lower serum adiponectin levels (P<0.001) (Table 2). Diabetes patients also showed a trend toward higher serum Lp-PLA₂ activity (P=0.083) and significantly higher ba-PWV than healthy men (P<0.001).

	Healthy men (n=27)	Diabetes patients (n=26)	Р
Oxidized LDL (U/L) $^{\phi}$	44.9 ± 3.66	55.9 ± 3.59	0.021
MDA $(nmol/mL)^{\circ}$	9.80 ± 0.44	11.8 ± 0.91	0.028
8-epi-PGF _{2α} (pg/mg creatinine) ^{ϕ}	1135.9 ± 54.7	1650.9 ± 110.2	0.001
Lp-PLA ₂ activity (nmol/mL/min)	34.7 ± 2.23	39.9 ± 2.18	0.083
hs-CRP $(mg/dL)^{\circ}$	0.53 ± 0.09	1.03 ± 0.17	0.027
IL-1B (ρg/mL) [§]	1.06 ± 0.11	1.11 ± 0.11	0.426
IL-6 ($\rho g/mL$) ^{ϕ}	2.68 ± 0.17	5.04 ± 1.48	0.011
TNF-a $(\rho g/mL)^{\circ}$	10.1 ± 0.64	13.2 ± 1.41	0.031
Adiponectin (µg/mL) [§]	5.62 ± 0.50	3.10 ± 0.27	<0.00 1
baPWV (cm/sec) [∮]	1258.2 ± 34.9	1519.6 ± 41.1	<0.00 1

 Table 2. Markers of lipid peroxides, inflammation, and brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity

Data are mean \pm SE.

^{*§*} Tested by logarithmic transformation.

Tested by independent *t*-test with the Mann-Whitney U-test.

4.3. Fatty acid composition of serum phospholipids

Compared to healthy men, men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes showed higher proportions of dodecanoic acid (12:0, P=0.032) and myristic acid (14:0, P=0.001) in serum phospholipids (Table 3). Diabetic men also showed a tendency toward lower levels of γ -linolenic acid (18:3 ω 6, P=0.057) and a trend toward higher α -linolenic acid levels (18:3 ω 3, P=0.067) in serum phospholipids. There were no significant differences between the two groups in δ -9 (18:1 ω 9/18:0), δ -9 (16:1 ω 7/16:0), δ -6 (18:3 ω 6/18:2 ω 6), and δ -5 (20:4 ω 6/20:3 ω 6) desaturase activities in serum phospholipids.

	Healthy men (n=27)	Diabetes patients (n=26)
Dodecanoic acid (c12:0) §	0.21 ± 0.01	$0.39 \pm 0.07^*$
Myristic acid (c14:0) §	0.42 ± 0.02	$0.69 \pm 0.07^{**}$
Palmitic acid (c16:0)	34.7 ± 0.58	33.5 ± 1.04
Stearic acid (c18:0) §	18.0 ± 0.34	18.9 ± 0.70
Palmitoleic acid (c16:1) §	0.66 ± 0.05	0.70 ± 0.06
Oleic acid (c18:1 w9)	6.94 ± 0.32	7.19 ± 0.42
Oleic acid (c18:1 w7)	1.78 ± 0.09	1.61 ± 0.08
Linoleic acid (c18:2 \omega6)	13.1 ± 0.44	11.9 ± 0.63
γ -linolenic acid (c18:3 ω 6) [§]	0.17 ± 0.01	0.15 ± 0.03
Eicosadienoic acid (c20:2 ω 6) [§]	0.41 ± 0.05	0.56 ± 0.17
Dihomo- γ -linolenic acid (c20:3 ω 6)	1.50 ± 0.08	1.59 ± 0.11
Arachidonic acid (c20:4 w6)	4.90 ± 0.30	4.87 ± 0.35
α -linolenic acid (c18:3 ω 3) [§]	0.15 ± 0.01	0.19 ± 0.02
Eicosapentaenoic acid (c20:5 ω 3) [§]	1.16 ± 0.11	1.39 ± 0.17
Docosahexaenoic acid (c22:6 ω 3) [§]	2.85 ± 0.21	2.98 ± 0.29
δ-9 desaturase (18:1 ω9/18:0)	0.388 ± 0.02	0.393 ± 0.03
δ-9 desaturase (16:1 ω7/16:0)	0.019 ± 0.00	0.022 ± 0.00
δ-6 desaturase (18:3 ω6/18:2 ω6)	0.013 ± 0.00	0.013 ± 0.00
δ-5 desaturase (20:4 ω6/20:3 ω6)	3.456 ± 0.25	3.116 ± 0.18

 Table 3. Fatty acid composition in serum phospholipids of healthy men and men

 with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes

Data are mean \pm SE. [§] Tested by logarithmic transformation.

Tested by independent *t*-test with the Mann-Whitney U-test. *P<0.05, **P<0.01

4.4. Plasma metabolic profiling based on UPLC-Q-TOF MS

4.4.1. Non-targeted metabolomics pattern analysis

To explain the maximum separation between defined class samples in the dataset, the 382 variables obtained from the plasma of healthy men and men with newly-diagnosed diabetes were analyzed by PLS-DA. The PLS-DA score plot (Fig. 1a) distinguished men with newly-diagnosed diabetes and healthy men along the axes corresponding to the first two PLS components. Our model describes 57% of the variation in X ($R^2X=0.570$) and 80% of the variation in the response Y (class) ($R^2Y=0.800$), and predicts 75.2% of the variation in the response Y ($Q^2Y=0.752$) for the two-component model. The permutation test with a permutation number of 200 was performed and indicated a R^2 intercept value of 0.249 and a Q^2 intercept value of -0.297. The score plot indicated that diabetes patients were clearly separated from the healthy group, and the S-plot (Fig. 1b) indicated that each metabolite contributed to this distinction between diabetes patients and healthy controls along the axes corresponding to the covariance [p] and reliability correlation [p(corr)].



Fig. 21. (a) Score plots from PLS-DA models classifying men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes (▲) and healthy men with normal fasting serum glucose levels (■). (b) S-plot for covariance [p] and reliability correlation [p(corr)] from PLS-DA models.

4.4.2. Identification and fold change levels of plasma metabolites

The normalized intensities of whole metabolites detected by UPLC-Q-TOF (382 metabolites in plasma) were statistically analyzed by nonparametric t test. All metabolites were significantly affected by the new onset of type 2 diabetes; however, few metabolites could be identified. The results assigned by UPLC-Q-TOF are shown in Table 4.

In plasma, 19 metabolites, including 3 amino acids (leucine, lysine, and phenylalanine), 8 acylcarnitines (propionyl-, octanoyl-, decanoyl-, palmityl-, heptadecanoyl-, linoleyl- and vaccenyl-carnitines), 6 lyso-phosphatidylcholines (lysoPCs) (14:0, 16:1, 18:1, 18:3, 20:5 and 22:6), and 2 lysophosphatidylethanolamines (lysoPEs) (18:2 and 22:6) were significantly increased in diabetes patients, whereas 2 metabolites, serine and lysoPE 18:1, were decreased. Decanoyl carnitine; lysoPCs containing C14:0, C16:1, C18:1, and C22:6; and lysoPE containing C18:1 with variable importance in the projection (VIP) values greater than 1.0, which indicates high relevance to the difference between sample groups, were major plasma metabolites contributing to the discrimination between healthy and diabetic men on the PLS-DA score plot (Table 4). Although oleamide was not significantly increased in diabetic men (P=0.124), oleamide with a VIP value of 6.952 was the most important plasma metabolite for evaluating the difference between healthy and diabetic men.

No	Identity	Mass	Elemental composition (mDa)	Fold change (vs healthy me n) ^a	P ^b	VIP
1	L-Leucine	132.1025	C ₆ H ₁₃ NO ₂ (0.0)	1.55	< 0.001	0.164
2	L-Lysine	147.1134	$C_6H_{14}N_2O_2(0.2)$	2.33	< 0.001	0.406
3	L-Phenylalanine	166.0868	$C_9H_{11}NO_2(4.0)$	1.89	< 0.001	0.501
4	L-Serine	106.0504	C ₃ H ₇ NO ₃ (7.7)	0.30	< 0.001	0.203
5	Propionyl carnitine	218.1392	$C_{10}H_{19}NO_4(0.1)$	1.55	0.002	0.082
6	Octanoyl carnitine	288.2175	$C_{15}H_{29}NO_4(0.5)$	4.77	< 0.001	0.682
7	Decanoyl carnitine	316.2488	$C_{17}H_{33}NO_4(0.5)$	3.71	< 0.001	1.122
8	Dodecanoyl carnitine	344.2801	$C_{19}H_{37}NO_4(0.2)$	3.90	< 0.001	0.273
9	Palmityl carnitine	400.3427	$C_{23}H_{45}NO_4(0.7)$	4.78	< 0.001	0.489
10	Heptadecanoyl carnitine	414.3583	$C_{24}H_{47}NO_4(4.4)$	3.39	0.001	0.435
11	Linoleyl carnitine	424.3427	$C_{25}H_{45}NO_4(2.5)$	2.01	0.006	0.108
12	Vaccenyl carnitine	426.3583	$C_{25}H_{47}NO_4(1.6)$	5.13	< 0.001	0.657
13	LysoPC(14:0)	468.3090	C ₂₂ H ₄₆ NO ₇ P (3.0)	2.25	< 0.001	1.144
14	LysoPC(16:0)	496.3403	C ₂₄ H ₅₀ NO ₇ P (0.2)	1.04	0.545	1.927
15	LysoPC(16:1)	494.3247	C ₂₄ H ₄₈ NO ₇ P (0.8)	2.13	< 0.001	1.580
16	LysoPC(18:0)	524.3716	C ₂₆ H ₅₄ NO ₇ P (1.1)	0.90	0.051	1.872
17	LysoPC(18:1)	522.3560	C ₂₆ H ₅₂ NO ₇ P (0.4)	1.19	0.008	1.699
18	LysoPC(18:2)	520.3403	C ₂₆ H ₅₀ NO ₇ P (0.3)	1.11	0.200	1.251
19	LysoPC(18:3)	518.3247	C ₂₆ H ₄₈ NO ₇ P (0.7)	1.69	0.047	0.367
20	LysoPC(20:2)	548.3716	C ₂₈ H ₅₄ NO ₇ P (2.0)	0.87	0.262	0.077
21	LysoPC(20:4)	544.3403	C ₂₈ H ₅₀ NO ₇ P (0.6)	1.17	0.062	0.569
22	LysoPC(20:5)	542.3247	C ₂₈ H ₄₈ NO ₇ P (0.0)	1.85	0.001	0.377
23	LysoPC(22:6)	568.3403	C ₃₀ H ₅₀ NO ₇ P (0.3)	1.46	0.002	2.033
24	LysoPE(18:1)	480.3090	C ₂₃ H ₄₆ NO ₇ P (0.2)	0.55	0.003	1.799
25	LysoPE(18:2)	478.2934	C ₂₃ H ₄₄ NO ₇ P (0.2)	1.99	< 0.001	0.255
26	LysoPE(22:6)	526.2934	C ₂₇ H ₄₄ NO ₇ P (0.1)	2.04	< 0.001	0.549
27	Oleamide	282.2797	C ₁₈ H ₃₅ NO (0.5)	1.30	0.124	6.952

Table 4. Identification and fold change levels of plasma metabolites of healthy men and men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes

^a calculated by the mean of intensity of each metabolite from T2DM by the mean of intensity of each metabolite from healthy men. ^b tested by independent t- test with the Mann-Whitney U-test.

4.5. Relationship of major plasma metabolites with lipid peroxides, inflammatory markers, arterial stiffness, and fatty acid compositions of serum phospholipids

Correlation analysis was performed for the major plasma metabolites as determined by UPLC-Q-TOF. Decanoyl carnitine positively correlated with ox-LDL (r=0.285, P=0.047), 8-epi-PGF_{2 α} $(r=0.317, P=0.036), IL-6 (r=0.403, P=0.009), TNF-<math>\alpha$ (r=0.328, P=0.036), and ba-PWV (r=0.548, P=0.001). Ba-PWV correlated positively with lysoPC C14:0 (r=0.543, P=0.001) and lysoPC C16:1 (r=0.559, P=0.001), and negatively with lysoPE C18:1 (r=-0.444, P=0.011). 8-epi-PGF_{2a} positively correlated with lysoPC C14:0 (r=0.439, P=0.003) and lysoPC C16:1 (r=0.352, P=0.019), as well as Lp-PLA₂ (r=0.313, P=0.044) and ba-PWV (r=0.409, P=0.034). LysoPC containing C22:6 positively correlated with IL-6 (r=0.324, P=0.039). Oleamide positively correlated with TNF- α (r=0.328, P=0.036) and oleic acid (C18:1 ω 9) (r=0.291, P=0.05) in serum phospholipid. LysoPCs containing C14:0, C16:1, and C18:1 positively correlated with the proportions of myristic acid (C14:0) (r=0.427, P=0.003), palmitoleic acid (C16:1) (r=0.415, P=0.005), and oleic acid (C18:109) (r=0.376, P=0.011) in serum phospholipids, respectively. There was a positive correlation between lysoPC C22:6 and lysoPE C22:6 (r=0.518, P<0.001), and between lysoPC C18:2 and lysoPE C18:2 (r=0.310, P=0.024).

5. DISCUSSION

Significant differences were demonstrated between the metabolic profiles, including lysoPCs, lysoPEs, acylcarnitines, and amino acids, of healthy men with normal fasting serum glucose levels and men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes. These results are in agreement with the previous finding of different compositions of the phospholipid species, including PEs and lysoPCs, as potential biomarkers for classifying type 2 diabetes patients from healthy adults (175). In this study, diabetes patients showed a significant increase in six lysoPCs (14:0, 16:1, 18:1, 18:3, 20:5, and 22:6). LysoPCs containing C14:0, C16:1, C18:1, and C22:6 with VIP values >1.0 were the major plasma metabolites contributing to the discrimination of healthy and diabetic men on the PLS-DA score plot. LysoPC has been shown to increase endothelial permeability and to contribute to the loss of vascular integrity in inflammatory conditions (176). Compared to healthy men, newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes patients also showed higher concentrations of TNF- α , IL-6, and hs-CRP. Higher arterial stiffness assessed by ba-PWV was also identified in diabetes patients and represents a composite risk factor to identify patients with early atherosclerotic change (177). In this study, ba-PWV correlated positively with levels of hs-CRP, IL-6, lysoPC C14:0, lysoPC C16:1, and ox-LDL.

Oxidized phospholipids in LDL particles are hydrolyzed by phosholipase A_2 (PLA₂), including Lp-PLA₂ and secretory PLA₂ (sPLA₂), and produce bioactive oxidized free fatty acids and lysoPCs (178). Stafforini et al (179) showed that the

secreted form of Lp-PLA₂ released F₂-isoprostanes, the end-products of lipid oxidation, from the sn-2 position of PC with high affinity. In the sn-1 position of the phospholipid, a saturated fatty acid (SFA) or monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA) predominates while in the sn-2 position, a MUFA or polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) predominates (180). Similar to previous findings (181. 182), this study also showed a positive correlation between Lp-PLA₂ activity and urinary 8-epi-PGF_{2α} concentrations. In addition, compared to healthy men, newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes patients showed significantly higher ox-LDL and 8-epi-PGF_{2α} levels and a trend toward increased Lp-PLA₂ activity. Furthermore, a positive relationship between 8-epi-PGF_{2α} and lysoPC C14:0, lysoPC C16:1, and ba-PWV identified in this study may indicate that increased production from Lp-PLA₂-catalized PC hydrolysis during increased LDL-oxidation closely relates to arterial stiffness in men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes. In fact, lysoPC is reported to constitute only 1-5% of the total PC content of non-ox-LDL; however, as much as 40-50% of PC contained within LDL molecules is converted to lysoPC during LDL oxidation (183).

LysoPC, representing 5-20% of total plasma phospholipids (184), is also formed by the lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) in plasma (185). Human LCAT releases lysoPCs C20:4 and C22:6 from the sn-1 position of PC (186). In plasma, up to 80% of lysoPC is found in the non-lipoprotein fraction, where albumin is considered the main lipid binding protein (187). Unsaturated lysoPC was associated mainly with albumin rather than lipoproteins (188). In this study, lysoPCs containing C14:0, C16:1, and C18:1 positively correlated with the proportions of myristic acid
(C14:0), palmitoleic acid (C16:1), and oleic acid (C18:1 ω 9) in serum phospholipids, respectively. In addition, a positive correlation between lysoPC C22:6 and lysoPE C22:6, and between lysoPC C18:2 and lysoPE C18:2, in this study could reflect the common origin involved in determining fatty acid composition (180). On the other hand, oleic acid in serum phospholipids and lysoPC C18:1 did not correlate with lysoPE C18:1, and diabetes patients showed a significant decrease in lysoPE (18:1), an intermediate in the biosynthesis of oleoylethanolamine (189). Oleoylethanolamine binds to peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) α and PPAR γ , inhibiting feeding behavior (190).

Higher total body fat percentages and central fat gain in men with diabetes compared with healthy men of similar age and BMI, might be partly due to the longterm effects of slightly higher caloric intake than caloric expenditure. High-calorie diets lead to de novo synthesis of several fatty acids, including the SFAs myristic acid (14:0) and palmitic acid (16:0), and the MUFAs 16:1 and 18:1 (191). With respect to individual fatty acids, a prospective study showed that high proportions of saturated fatty acids 16:0 and 18:0 in plasma phospholipids are associated with increased incidence of type 2 diabetes (192). Diabetes patients in this study showed higher proportions of 12:0 and 14:0 in serum phospholipids than healthy men. In addition, diabetes patients with increased central adipose tissue also showed a significant increase in the HOMA-IR index and triglyceride levels. Hyperlipidemia is detectable even before the appearance of fasting or postprandial hyperglycemia, suggesting that the altered lipid metabolism occurs long before type 2 diabetes fully develops (193). A prevailing model for the development of diet-induced IR holds that mitochondrial fatty acid oxidation is inadequate to process the large fat load, thus leading to accumulation of lipid-derived metabolites such as diacyglycerols and ceramide (5). In this study, oleamide was the most important plasma metabolite for distinguishing between healthy and diabetic men, although oleamide was not significantly increased in diabetes patients.

Recently, Koves et al (194, 195) found that chronic exposure of muscle to elevated lipids in vitro, or in vivo as a consequence of overnutrition, resulted in increased expression of genes related to fatty acid β -oxidation. However, incomplete metabolism of fatty acids in the β -oxidation pathway results in broad-scale increase of plasma acylcarnitines (196). Diabetes patients in this study showed significant acylcarnitines (propionyl-, octanoyl-, increases in decanoyl-, palmityl-, heptadecanoyl-, linoleyl-, and vaccenyl-carnitines). Specifically, short chain acylcarnitines, including propionyl carnitine, reflect the propionyl CoA pool that is a byproduct of branched-chain amino acid (BCAA) catabolism. The observed significant increases in leucine, lysine, and phenylalanine, and decreases in serine in diabetes patients men are in agreement with the previous finding that BCAA-related factors, including leucine/isoleucine, valine, phenylalanine, and tyrosine, are strongly and positively associated with the HOMA-IR index (182, 197). Huffman et al (4) also showed that insulin sensitivity is associated negatively with the large neutral amino acids glutamate and glutamine, and positively associated with glycine and serine. Elevated amino acid concentrations have been suggested to produce IR by disrupting

insulin-mediated glucose uptake pathways, resulting in reduced glucose uptake and glycogen synthesis (198).

This study has several limitations. The moderate sample size, as well as the cross-sectional and observational nature of this study, may limit the applicability of our findings. We evaluated associations rather than prospective predictions; thus, the causal relationship of the identified biomarkers and the exact internal mechanisms of the changes of the metabolites in newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes remain unclear. In addition, many markers were detected by UPLC-MS, but most remain unidentified. Despite these limitations, our findings indicate that metabolic processes that have evolved to sustain demands with a low-calorie diet produce many of the aberrant characteristics of type 2 diabetes when metabolic fuels are in excess relative to caloric expenditure (4).

The present study revealed a cluster of newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetesassociated changes in metabolites, including 6 lysoPC species (C14:0, C16:1, C18:1, C18:3, C20:5, and C22:6), 3 lysoPE species (C18:1, C18:2, and 22:6), 8 acylcarnitines (propionyl-, octanoyl-, decanoyl-, palmityl-, heptadecanoyl-, linoleyl-, and vaccenyl-carnitine), and 4 amino acids (leucine, lysine, phenylalanine, and serine) using a UPLC-Q-TOF MS-based metabolomic strategy and multivariate data analysis. These metabolites were closely associated with inflammatory and oxidative markers, as well as arterial stiffness. Therefore, differences in these metabolic profiles between the healthy men with normal fasting glucose levels and men with newly-diagnosed type 2 diabetes may provide a better understanding of the metabolic, inflammatory, oxidative, and arterial stiffness changes involved in early diabetes, which may, in turn, improve future clinical diagnosis and treatment.

REFERENCES

1. South Korea Ministry of Health and Social Affairs. The Third Korea National Health & Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES III). Ministry of Health and Welfare: Seoul, South Korea. 2008.

2. South Korea National Statistical Office. Annual Report on the Cause of Death Statistics 2007. National Statistical Office: Seoul, South Korea. 2008.

3. Zhang X, Wang Y, Hao F, Zhou X, Han X, Tang H, Ji L. Human serum metabonomic analysis reveals progression axes for glucose intolerance and insulin resistance statuses. J Proteome Res. 2009;8(11):5188-5195.

4. Huffman KM, Shah SH, Stevens RD, Bain JR, Muehlbauer M, Slentz CA, Tanner CJ, Kuchibhatla M, Houmard JA, Newgard CB, Kraus WE. Relationships between circulating metabolic intermediates and insulin action in overweight to obese, inactive men and women. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(9):1678-1683.

5. Bain JR, Stevens RD, Wenner BR, Ilkayeva O, Muoio DM, Newgard CB. Metabolomics applied to diabetes research: moving from information to knowledge. Diabetes. 2009;58(11):2429-2443.

6. Zhao X, Peter A, Fritsche J, Elcnerova M, Fritsche A, Häring HU, Schleicher ED, Xu G, Lehmann R. Changes of the plasma metabolome during an oral glucose tolerance test: is there more than glucose to look at? Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2009;296(2):E384-393.

7. Huo T, Cai S, Lu X, Sha Y, Yu M, Li F. Metabonomic study of biochemical

changes in the serum of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients after the treatment of metformin hydrochloride. J Pharm Biomed Anal. 2009;49(4):976-982.

8. Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care. 2004;27:1047-1053.

9. Chan JC, Malik V, Jia W, Kadowaki T, Yajnik CS, Yoon KH, Hu FB. Diabetes in Asia: epidemiology, risk factors, and pathophysiology. JAMA. 2009 May 27;301(20):2129-2140.

10. Cowie CC, Rust KF, Ford ES, Eberhardt MS, Byrd-Holt DD, Li C, Williams DE, Gregg EW, Bainbridge KE, Saydah SH, Geiss LS. Full accounting of diabetes and pre-diabetes in the U.S. population in 1988-1994 and 2005-2006. Diabetes Care. 2009;32:287-294.

11. Park Y, Lee H, Koh CS, Min H, Yoo K, Kim Y, Shin Y. Prevalence of diabetes and IGT in Yonchon County, South Korea. Diabetes Care. 1995;18:545-548.

12. Kim YI, Choi CS, Kim SW, Lee JS, Kim HH, Lee MS, Lee SI, Park JY, Hong SK, Lee KU. Prevalence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in Korean adults living in Jungup district, South Korea. J Korean Diabetes Assoc. 1998;22:363-371.

Cho NH. Prevalence of diabetes and management status in Korean population.
 Korean J Med. 2005;68:1-3.

14. Cho NH. The Epidemiology of Diabetes in Korea: From the Economics to Genetics. Korean Diabetes J. 2010 February;34(1):10-15.

15. Kaneto H, Katakami N, Matsuhisa M, Matsuoka TA. Role of reactive oxygen species in the progression of type 2 diabetes and atherosclerosis. Mediators Inflamm. Epub. 2010 Feb 16;453892.

Mandrup-Poulsen T. Beta-cell apoptosis: stimuli and signaling. Diabetes. 2001
 Feb;50 Suppl 1:S58-63.

17. Rasschaert J, Liu D, Kutlu B, Cardozo AK, Kruhoffer M, Orntoft TF, Eizirik DL. Global profiling of double stranded RNA- and IFN- γ -induced genes in rat pancreatic β cells. Diabetologia 462. 2003;1641-1657.

18. Kutlu B, Cardozo AK, Darville MI, Kruhoffer M, Magnusson N, Orntoft T, Eizirik DL. Discovery of gene networks regulating cytokine-induced dysfunction and apoptosis in insulin-producing INS-1 cells. Diabetes. 2003;52:2701-2719.

19. Cardozo AK, Heimberg H, Heremans Y, Leeman R, Kutlu B, Kruhoffer M, Orntoft T, Eizirik DL. A comprehensive analysis of cytokine-induced and nuclear factor- κ B-dependent genes in primary rat pancreatic β -cells. J Biol Chem. 2001;276:48879-48886.

20. Cardozo AK, Kruhoffer M, Leeman R, Orntoft T, Eizirik DL. Identification of novel cytokine-induced genes in pancreatic β -cells by high-density oligonucleotide arrays. Diabetes. 2001;50:909-920.

21. Eizirik DL, Kutlu B, Rasschaert J, Darville M, Cardozo AK. Use of microarray analysis to unveil transcription factor and gene networks contributing to β cell dysfunction and apoptosis. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2003;1005:55-74.

22. Kutlu B, Cardozo AK, Darville MI, Kruhoffer M, Magnusson N, Orntoft T,

Eizirik DL. Discovery of gene networks regulating cytokine-induced dysfunction and apoptosis in insulin-producing INS-1 cells. Diabetes. 2003 Nov;52(11):2701-2719.

23. Mandrup-Poulsen T. Apoptotic signal transduction pathways in diabetes. Biochem Pharmacol. 2003 Oct 15;66(8):1433-1440.

24. Suhre K, Meisinger C, Döring A, Altmaier E, Belcredi P, Gieger C, Chang D, Milburn MV, Gall WE, Weinberger KM, Mewes HW, Hrabé de Angelis M, Wichmann HE, Kronenberg F, Adamski J, Illig T. Metabolic footprint of diabetes: a multiplatform metabolomics study in an epidemiological setting. PLoS One. 2010 Nov 11;5(11):e13953.

25. Lanza IR, Zhang S, Ward LE, Karakelides H, Raftery D, Nair KS. Quantitative metabolomics by H-NMR and LC-MS/MS confirms altered metabolic pathways in diabetes. PLoS One. 2010 May 10;5(5):e10538.

26. Zhang X, Wang Y, Hao F, Zhou X, Han X, Tang H, Ji L. Human serum metabonomic analysis reveals progression axes for glucose intolerance and insulin resistance statuses. J Proteome Res. 2009 Nov;8(11):5188-5195.

27. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Cheng S, Rhee EP, McCabe E, Lewis GD, Fox CS, Jacques PF, Fernandez C, O'Donnell CJ, Carr SA, Mootha VK, Florez JC, Souza A, Melander O, Clish CB, Gerszten RE. Metabolite profiles and the risk of developing diabetes. Nat Med. 2011 Apr;17(4):448-453.

28. Huffman KM, Shah SH, Stevens RD, Bain JR, Muehlbauer M, Slentz CA, Tanner CJ, Kuchibhatla M, Houmard JA, Newgard CB, Kraus WE. Relationships between circulating metabolic intermediates and insulin action in overweight to obese, inactive

men and women. Diabetes Care. 2009 Sep;32(9):1678-1683.

29. Mochida T, Tanaka T, Shiraki Y, Tajiri H, Matsumoto S, Shimbo K, Ando T, Nakamura K, Okamoto M, Endo F. Time-dependent changes in the plasma amino acid concentration in diabetes mellitus. Mol Genet Metab. 2011 May 12.

30. Liu Z, Luo Y, Jeppesen PB, Gregersen S, Hermansen K. Amino acid-induced gene expression profiling in clonal β -cell line INS-1E cells. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2011 Feb;27(2):120-176.

31. Weir GC, Bonner-Weir S. Five stages of evolving beta-cell dysfunction during progression to diabetes. Diabetes. 2004 Dec;53 Suppl 3:S16-21.

32. Williams SB, Cusco JA, Roddy MA, Johnstone MT, Creager MA. Impaired nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1996;27:567-574.

33. Johnstone MT, Creager SJ, Scales KM, Cusco JA, Lee BK, Creager MA. Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Circulation. 1993;88:2510-2516.

34. De Vriese AS, Verbeuren TJ, Van de Voorde J. Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes.Br J Pharmacol. 2000;130:963-974.

35. Milstien S, Katusic Z. Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin by peroxynitrite. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;263:681-684.

36. Hennes MM, O'Shaughnessy IM, Kelly TM, LaBelle P, Egan BM, Kissebah AH. Insulin-resistant lipolysis in abdominally obese hypertensive individuals. Hypertension. 1996;28:120-126. 37. Inoguchi T, Li P, Umeda F, Yu HY, Kakimoto M, Imamura M, Aoki T, Etoh T, Hashimoto T, Naruse M, Sano H, Utsumi H, Nawata H. High glucose level and free fatty acid stimulate reactive oxygen species production through protein kinase C-dependent activation of NAD(P)H oxidase in cultured vascular cells. Diabetes. 2000;49:1939-1945.

38. Zou M, Yesilkaya A, Ullrich V. Peroxynitrite inactivates prostacyclin synthase by heme-thiolate-catalyzed tyrosine nitration. Drug Metab Rev. 1999;31:343-349.

39. Hopfner RL, Gopalakrishnan V. Endothelin: emerging role in diabetic vascular complications. Diabetologia. 1999;42:1383-1394.

40. Quehenberger P, Bierhaus A, Fasching P, Muellner C, Klevesath M, Hong M, Stier G, Sattler M, Schleicher E, Speiser W, Nawroth PP. Endothelin 1 transcription is controlled by nuclear factor-kappaB in AGE-stimulated cultured endothelial cells. Diabetes. 2000;49:1561-1570.

41. Achmad TH, Winterscheidt A, Lindemann C, Rao GS. Oxidized low density lipoprotein acts on endothelial cells in culture to enhance endothelin secretion and monocyte migration. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol. 1997;19:153-159.

42. Xie H, Bevan JA. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein enhances myogenic tone in the rabbit posterior cerebral artery through the release of endothelin-1. Stroke. 1999;30:2423-2429.

43. Christlieb AR, Janka HU, Kraus B, Gleason RE, Icasas-Cabral EA, Aiello LM, Cabral BV, Solano A. Vascular reactivity to angiotensin II and to norepinephrine in diabetic subjects. Diabetes. 1976;25:268-274.

44. Tesfamariam B, Brown ML, Deykin D, Cohen RA. Elevated glucose promotes generation of endothelium-derived vasoconstrictor prostanoids in rabbit aorta. J Clin Invest. 1990;85:929-932.

45. Libby P, Aikawa M. New insights into plaque stabilisation by lipid lowering. Drugs. 1998;56(suppl 1):9-13.

46. Libby P. Current concepts of the pathogenesis of the acute coronary syndromes. Circulation. 2001;104:365-372.

47. Schmidt AM, Stern D. Atherosclerosis and diabetes. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2000;2:430-436.

48. Rösen P, Nawroth PP, King G, Möller W, Tritschler HJ, Packer L. The role of oxidative stress in the onset and progression of diabetes and its complications. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2001;17:189-212.

49. Zeiher AM, Fisslthaler B, Schray-Utz B, Busse R. Nitric oxide modulates the expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in cultured human endothelial cells. Circ Res. 1995;76:980-986.

50. Dichtl W, Nilsson L, Goncalves I, Ares MP, Banfi C, Calara F, Hamsten A, Eriksson P, Nilsson J. Very low-density lipoprotein activates nuclear factor-kappaB in endothelial cells. Circ Res. 1999;84:1085-1094.

51. Hussain MJ, Peakman M, Gallati H, Lo SS, Hawa M, Viberti GC, Watkins PJ, Leslie RD, Vergani D. Elevated serum levels of macrophage-derived cytokines precede and accompany the onset of IDDM. Diabetologia. 1996;39:60-69.

52. Uemura S, Matsushita H, Li W, Glassford AJ, Asagami T, Lee KH, Harrison DG,

Tsao PS. Diabetes mellitus enhances vascular matrix metalloproteinase activity. Circ Res. 2001;88:1291-1298.

53. Kario K, Matsuo T, Kobayashi H, Matsuo M, Sakata T, Miyata T. Activation of tissue factor-induced coagulation and endothelial cell dysfunction in non-insulindependent diabetic patients with microalbuminuria. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 1995;15:1114-1120.

54. Kaneto H, Katakami N, Matsuhisa M, Matsuoka TA. Role of reactive oxygen species in the progression of type 2 diabetes and atherosclerosis. Mediators Inflamm. 2010;453892.

55. Tillett WS, Francis T Jr. Serological reactions in pneumonia with a non-protein fraction of pneumococcus. J Exp Med. 1930;52:561-571.

56. Richard Kones. Rosuvastatin, inflammation, C-reactive protein, JUPITER, and primary prevention of cardiovascular disease - a perspective. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2010;4:383-413.

57. Hansson GK, Libby P. The immune response in atherosclerosis: a double-edged sword. Nat Rev Immunol. 2006;6:508-519.

58. Norata GD, Marchesi P, Pulakazhi Venu VK, Pasqualini F, Anselmo A, Moalli F, Pizzitola I, Garlanda C, Mantovani A, Catapano AL Deficiency of the long pentraxin PTX3 promotes vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis. Circulation. 2009;120:699-708.

59. Hansson GK, Libby P, Schönbeck U, Yan ZQ. Innate and adaptive immunity in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Circ Res. 2002;91:281-291.

60. Abou-Raya A, Abou-Raya S. Inflammation: a pivotal link between autoimmune diseases and atherosclerosis. Autoimmun Rev. 2006;5:331-337.

61. Sun J, Hartvigsen K, Chou MY, Zhang Y, Sukhova GK, Zhang J, Lopez-Ilasaca M, Diehl CJ, Yakov N, Harats D, George J, Witztum JL, Libby P, Ploegh H, Shi GP. Deficiency of antigen-presenting cell invariant chain reduces atherosclerosis in mice. Circulation. 2010;122:808-820.

62. Okemefuna AI, Nan R, Miller A, Gor J, Perkins SJ. Complement factor H binds at two independent sites to C-reactive protein in acute phase concentrations. J Biol Chem. 2010;285:1053-1065.

63. Bodman-Smith KB, Melendez AJ, Campbell I, Harrison PT, Allen JM, Raynes JG.
C-reactive protein-mediated phagocytosis and phospholipase D signaling through the high-affinity receptor for immunoglobulin G (FcγRI) Immunology. 2002;207:252-260.
64. Peisajovich A, Marnell L, Mold C, Du Clos TW. C-reactive protein at the interface between innate immunity and inflammation. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2008;4:379-390.

65. Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. N Eng J Med. 1999;340:448-454.

66. Vigushin DM, Pepys MB, Hawkins PN. Metabolic and scintigraphic studies of radioiodinated human C-reactive protein in health and disease. J Clin Invest. 1993;91:1351-1357.

67. Pepys MB, Hirschfield GM. C-reactive protein: a critical update. J Clin Invest. 2003;111:1805-1812.

68. Lau DC, Dhillon B, Yan H, Szmitko PE, Verma S. Adipokines: molecular links between obesity and atheroslcerosis. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;288:H2031-2041.

69. De Beer F, Soutar AK, Baltz ML, Trayner IM, Feinstein A, Pepys MB. Low density lipoprotein and very low density lipoprotein are selectively bound by aggregated C-reactive protein. J Exp Med. 1982;156:230-242.

70. Zhang YX, Cliff WJ, Schoefl GI, Higgins G. Coronary C-reactive protein distribution: its relation to development of atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis. 1999;145:375-379.

71. Pasceri V, Willerson JT, Yeh ET. Direct proinflammatory effect of C-reactive protein on human endothelial cells. Circulation. 2000;102:2165-2168.

72. Torzewski M, Rist C, Mortensen RF, Zwaka TP, Bienek M, Waltenberger J, Koenig W, Schmitz G, Hombach V, Torzewski J. C-reactive protein in the arterial intima: role of C-reactive protein receptor-dependent monocyte recruitment in atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20:2094-2099.

73. Devaraj S, Davis B, Simon SI, Jialal I. CRP promotes monocyte-endothelial cell adhesion via Fcgamma;receptors in human aortic endothelial cells under static and shear flow conditions. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;291:H1170-1176.

74. Röcker C, Manolov DE, Kuzmenkina EV, Tron K, Slatosch H, Torzewski J, Nienhaus GU. Affinity of C-reactive protein toward FcgammaRI is strongly enhanced by the gamma-chain. Am J Pathol. 2007;170:755-763.

75. Schwartz R, Osborne-Lawrence S, Hahner L, Gibson LL, Gormley AK,

Vongpatanasin W, Zhu W, Word RA, Seetharam D, Black S, Samols D, Mineo C, Shaul PW. C-reactive protein downregulates endothelial NO synthase and attenuates reendothelialization in vivo in mice. Circ Res. 2007;100:1452-1459.

76. Szmitko PE, Verma S. C-reactive protein and reendothelialization: NO involvement. Circ Res. 2007;100:1405-1407.

77. Xing D, Hage FG, Chen YF, McCrory MA, Feng W, Skibinski GA, Majid-Hassan E, Oparil S, Szalai AJ. Exaggerated neointima formation in human C-reactive protein transgenic mice is IgG Fc receptor type 1 (Fc gamma RI)-dependent. Am J Pathol. 2008;172:22-30.

78. Salio M, Chimenti S, De Angelis N, Molla F, Maina V, Nebuloni M, Pasqualini F, Latini R, Garlanda C, Mantovani A. Cardioprotective function of the long pentraxin PTX3 in acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 2008;117:1055-1064.

79. Van Vré EA, Bult H, Hoymans VY, van Tendeloo FI, Vrints CJ, Bosmans JM. Human C-reactive protein activates monocyte-derived dendritic cells and induces dendritic cell-mediated T-cell activation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2008;28:511-518.

80. Fujita Y, Kakino A, Nishimichi N, Yamaguchi S, Sato Y, Machida S, Cominacini L, Delneste Y, Matsuda H, Sawamura T. Oxidized LDL receptor LOX-1 binds to C-reactive protein and mediates its vascular effects. Clin Chem. 2009;55:285-294.

81. Filep JG. Platelets affect the structure and function of C-reactive protein. Circ Res.2009;105:109-111.

82. Jin C, Lu L, Zhang RY, Zhang Q, Ding FH, Chen QJ, Shen WF. Association of

serum glycated albumin, C-reactive protein and ICAM-1 levels with diffuse coronary artery disease in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Clin Chim Acta. 2009;408:45-49.

83. Ridker PM. C-reactive protein: eighty years from discovery to emergence as a major risk marker for cardiovascular disease. Clin Chem. 2009;55:209-215.

84. Geluk CA, Post WJ, Hillege HL, Tio RA, Tijssen JG, van Dijk RB, Dijk WA, Bakker SJ, de Jong PE, van Gilst WH, Zijlstra F. C-reactive protein and angiographic characteristics of stable and unstable coronary artery disease: data from the prospective PREVEND cohort. Atherosclerosis. 2008;196:372-382.

85. Nabata A, Kuroki M, Ueba H, Hashimoto S, Umemoto T, Wada H, Yasu T, Saito M, Momomura S, Kawakami M. C-reactive protein induces endothelial cell apoptosis and matrix metalloproteinase-9 production in human mononuclear cells: implications for the destabilization of atherosclerotic plaque. Atherosclerosis. 2008;196:129-135.

86. Scirica BM, Cannon CP, Sabatine MS, Jarolim P, Sloane S, Rifai N, Braunwald E, Morrow DA; PROVE IT-TIMI 22 Investigators. Concentrations of C-reactive protein and B-type natriuretic peptide 30 days after acute coronary syndromes independently predict hospitalization for heart failure and cardiovascular death. Clin Chem. 2009;55:265-273.

87. Otake Otake H, Shite J, Shinke T, Watanabe S, Tanino Y, Ogasawara D, Sawada T, Hirata K, Yokoyama M. Relation between plasma adiponectin, high sensitivity C-reactive protein, and coronary plaque components in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Am J Cardiol. 2008;101:1-7.

88. Scirica BM, Morrow DA, Cannon CP, de Lemos JA, Murphy S, Sabatine MS, Wiviott SD, Rifai N, McCabe CH, Braunwald E. Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction (TIMI) Study Group. Clinical application of C-reactive protein across the spectrum of acute coronary syndromes. Clin Chem. 2007;53:1800-1807.

89. Scirica BM, Morrow DA. Is C-reactive protein an innocent bystander or proatherogenic culprit? The verdict is still out. Circulation. 2006;113:2128-2134.

90. Verma S, Devaraj S, Jialal I. Is C-reactive protein an innocent bystander or proatherogenic culprit? C-reactive protein promotes atherothrombosis. Circulation. 2006;113:2135-2150.

91. Jialal I, Verma S, Devaraj S. Inhibition of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by C-reactive protein: clinical relevance. Clin Chem. 2009;55:206-208.

92. Guan H, Wang P, Hui R, Edin ML, Zeldin DC, Wang DW. Adeno-associated virus-mediated human C-reactive protein gene delivery causes endothelial dysfunction and hypertension in rats. Clin Chem. 2009;55:274-284.

93. Radjesh J, Bisoendial S, Boekholdt M, Vergeer M, Stroes ESG, Kastelein JJP. Creactive protein is a mediator of cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J. 2010;31:2087-2091.

94. Sinclair KA, Bogart A, Buchwald D, Henderson JA. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome and associated risk factors in Northern Plains and Southwest American Indians. Diabetes Care. 2011 Jan;34(1):118-120.

95. Kearney MT. Targeting the endothelium to prevent diabetes-related atherosclerosis. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2010;7:177.

96. Ballantyne CM, Hoogeveen RC, Bang H, Coresh J, Folsom AR, Heiss G, Sharrett AR. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2, highsensitivity C-reactive protein, and risk for incident coronary heart disease in middle-aged men and women in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Circulation. 2004;109:837-842.

97. Ballantyne CM, Hoogeveen RC, Bang H, Coresh J, Folsom AR, Chambless LE, Myerson M, Wu KK, Sharrett AR, Boerwinkle E. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2, highsensitivity C-reactive protein, and risk for incident ischemic stroke in middle-aged men and women in the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Arch Intern Med. 2005;165:2479-2484.

98. Garza CA, Montori VM, McConnell JP, Somers VK, Kullo IJ, Lopez-Jimenez F. Association between lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 and cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. Mayo Clin Proc. 2007;82:159-165.

99. Corson MA, Jones PH, Davidson MH. Review of the evidence for the clinical utility of lipoproteinassociated phospholipase A2 as a cardiovascular risk marker. Am J Cardiol. 2008;101:41F-50F.

100. Ali M, Madjid M. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2: a cardiovascular risk predictor and a potential therapeutic target. Future Cardiol. 2009;5:159-173.

101. Kenneth J. Colley, Robert L. Wolfert, Michael E. Cobble. Lipoprotein associated phospholipase A2: role in atherosclerosis and utility as a biomarker for cardiovascular risk. EPMA J. 2011 March; 2(1): 27-38.

102. Kolodgie Kolodgie FD, Burke AP, Skorija KS, Ladich E, Kutys R, Makuria AT, Virmani R. Lipoproteinassociated phospholipase A2 protein expression in the natural

progression of human coronary atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:2523-2529.

103. Lavi S, McConnell JP, Rihal CS, Prasad A, Mathew V, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Local production of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 and lysophosphatidylcholine in the coronary circulation: association with early coronary atherosclerosis and endothelial dysfunction in humans. Circulation. 2007;115:2715-2721.

104. Mannheim D, Herrmann J, Versari D, Gössl M, Meyer FB, McConnell JP, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Enhanced expression of Lp-PLA2 and lysophosphatidylcholine in symptomatic carotid atherosclerotic plaque. Stroke. 2008;39:1445-1455.

105. Vickers KC, Maguire CT, Wolfert R, Burns AR, Reardon M, Geis R, Holvoet P, Morrisett JD. Relationship of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A 2 and oxidized low density lipoprotein in carotid atherosclerosis. J Lipid Res. 2009;50:1735-1743.

106. MacPhee CH, Moores KE, Boyd HF, Dhanak D, Ife RJ, Leach CA, Leake DS, Milliner KJ, Patterson RA, Suckling KE, Tew DG, Hickey DM. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2, platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase, generates two bioactive products during the oxidation of low-density lipoprotein: use of a novel inhibitor. Biochem J. 1999;338:479-487.

107. Safaya R, Chai H, Kougias P, Lin P, Lumsden A, Yao Q, Chen C. Effect of lysophosphatidylcholine on vasomotor functions of porcine coronary arteries. J Surg Res. 2005;126:182-188.

108. Zalewski A, Macphee C. Role of lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 in atherosclerosis: biology, epidemiology, and possible therapeutic target. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2005;25:923-931.

109. The Lp-PLA2 Studies Collaboration. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 and risk of coronary disease, stroke, and mortality: collaborative analysis of 32 prospective studies. Lancet. 2010 May 1;375(9725):1536-1544.

110. Davidson MH, Corson MA, Alberts MJ, Anderson JL, Gorelick PB, Jones PH, Lerman A, McConnell JP, Weintraub HS. Consensus panel recommendation for incorporating Lp-PLA2 testing into cardiovascular disease risk assessment guidelines. Am J Cardiol. 2008;101:51F-57F.

111. Elkind MS, Tai W, Coates K, Paik MC, Sacco RL. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein, lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2, and outcome after ischemic stroke. Arch Intern Med. 2006;166:2073-2080.

112. Winkler K, Hoffmann MM, Winkelmann BR, Friedrich I, Schäfer G, Seelhorst U, Wellnitz B, Wieland H, Boehm BO, März W. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 predicts 5-year cardiac mortality independently of established risk factors and adds prognostic information in patients with low and medium high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (the Ludwigshafen risk and cardiovascular health study) Clin Chem. 2007;53:1440-1447.

113. Gerber Y, McConnell JP, Jaffe AS, Weston SA, Killian JM, Roger VL. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 and prognosis after myocardial infarction in the community. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2006;26:2517-2522.

114. Santos AO, Fonseca FA, Fischer SM, Monteiro CM, Brandão SA, Póvoa RM, Bombig MT, Carvalho AC, Monteiro AM, Ramos E, Gidlund M, Figueiredo Neto AM, Izar MC. High circulating autoantibodies against human oxidized low-density lipoprotein are related to stable and lower titers to unstable clinical situation. Clin Chim Acta. 2009 Aug;406(1-2):113-118.

115. Ejsing CS, Sampaio JL, Surendranath V, Duchoslav E, Ekroos K, Klemm RW, Simons K, Shevchenko A. Global analysis of the yeast lipidome by quantitative shotgun mass spectrometry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106:2136-2141.

116. Hiukka A, Ståhlman M, Pettersson C, Levin M, Adiels M, Teneberg S, Leinonen ES, Hultén LM, Wiklund O, Oresic M, Olofsson SO, Taskinen MR, Ekroos K, Borén J. ApoCIII-enriched LDL in type 2 diabetes displays altered lipid composition, increased susceptibility for sphingomyelinase, and increased binding to biglycan. Diabetes. 2009;58:2018-2026.

117. Lindén D, William-Olsson L, Ahnmark A, Ekroos K, Hallberg C, Sjögren HP, Becker B, Svensson L, Clapham JC, Oscarsson J, Schreyer S. Liver-directed overexpression of mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase results in hepatic steatosis, increased triacylglycerol secretion and reduced fatty acid oxidation. FASEB J. 2006;20:434-443.

118. Brügger B, Erben G, Sandhoff R, Wieland FT, Lehmann WD. Quantitative analysis of biological membrane lipids at the low picomole level by nano-electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1997;94:2339-2344. 119. Ekroos K, Ejsing CS, Bahr U, Karas M, Simons K, Shevchenko A. Charting

molecular composition of phosphatidylcholines by fatty acid scanning and ion trap MS3 fragmentation. J Lipid Res. 2003;44:2181-2192.

120. Thomas MC, Mitchell TW, Harman DG, Deeley JM, Nealon JR, Blanksby SJ. Ozone-induced dissociation: elucidation of double bond position within mass-selected lipid ions. Anal Chem 2008;80:303-311.

121. Kuksis A, Marai L, Myher JJ. Plasma lipid profiling by liquid chromatography with chloride-attachment mass spectrometry. Lipids. 1991;26:240-246.

122. Ogiso H, Suzuki T, Taguchi R. Development of a reverse-phase liquid chromatography electrospray ionization mass spectrometry method for lipidomics, improving detection of phosphatidic acid and phosphatidylserine. Anal Biochem. 2008;375:124-131.

123. Hopfgartner G, Varesio E, Tschäppät V, Grivet C, Bourgogne E, Leuthold LA. Triple quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometer for the analysis of small molecules and macromolecules. J Mass Spectrom. 2004;39:845-855.

124. Shaner RL, Allegood JC, Park H, Wang E, Kelly S, Haynes CA, Sullards MC, Merrill AH Jr. Quantitative analysis of sphingolipids for lipidomics using triple quadrupole and quadrupole linear ion trap mass spectrometers. J Lipid Res. 2009;50:1692-1707.

125. Sergent O, Ekroos K, Lefeuvre-Orfila L, Rissel M, Forsberg GB, Oscarsson J, Andersson TB, Lagadic-Gossmann D. Ximelagatran increases membrane fluidity and changes membrane lipid composition in primary human hepatocytes. Toxicol In Vitro. 2009;23:1305-1310.

126. Laaksonen R, Katajamaa M, Päivä H, Sysi-Aho M, Saarinen L, Junni P, Lütjohann D, Smet J, Van Coster R, Seppänen-Laakso T, Lehtimäki T, Soini J, Oresic M. A systems biology strategy reveals biological pathways and plasma biomarker candidates for potentially toxic statin-induced changes in muscle. PLoS ONE. 2006;1:e97.

127. Thomas MC, Mitchell TW, Harman DG, Deeley JM, Nealon JR, Blanksby SJ. Ozone-induced dissociation: elucidation of double bond position within mass-selected lipid ions. Anal Chem 2008;80:303-311.

128. Malmberg P, Börner K, Chen Y, Friberg P, Hagenhoff B, Månsson JE, Nygren H. Localization of lipids in the aortic wall with imaging TOF-SIMS. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1771:185-195.

129. Manicke NE, Nefliu M, Wu C, Woods JW, Reiser V, Hendrickson RC, Cooks RG. Imaging of lipids in atheroma by desorption electrospray ionization mass spectrometry. Anal Chem. 2009;81:8702-8707.

130. Kim Ekroos, Minna Jänis, Kirill Tarasov, Reini Hurme, Reijo Laaksonen.Lipidomics: A Tool for Studies of Atherosclerosis. Curr Atheroscler Rep. 2010July;12(4):273-281.

131. Oliver SG, Winson MK, Kell DB, Baganz F. Systematic functional analysis of the yeast genome. Trends in Biotechnology. 1998;16(9):373-378.

132. Nicholson JK, Lindon JC, Holmes E. 'Metabonomics': understanding the metabolic responses of living systems to pathophysiological stimuli via multivariate statistical analysis of biological NMR spectroscopic data. Xenobiotica.

1999;29(11):1181-1189.

133. Fiehn O, Kopka J, Dörmann P, Altmann T, Trethewey RN, Willmitzer L.Metabolite profiling for plant functional genomics. Nature Biotechnology.2000;18(11):1157-1161.

134. Tweeddale H, Notley-Mcrobb L, Ferenci T. Effect of slow growth on metabolism of Escherichia coli, as revealed by global metabolite pool ('metabolome') analysis.Journal of Bacteriology. 1998;180(19):5109-5116.

135. Watkins SM, German JB. Toward the implementation of metabolomic assessments of human health and nutrition. Curr Opin Biotechnol. 2002 Oct;13(5):512-516.

136. Dunn WB, Bailey NJC, Johnson HE. Measuring the metabolome: current analytical technologies. Analyst. 2005;130(5):606-625.

137. Nicholson JK, Wilson ID. Understanding 'global' systems biology: metabonomics and the continuum of metabolism. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery. 2003;2(8):668-676.

138. Harrigan GG, LaPlante RH, Cosma GN, Cockerell G, Goodacre R, Maddox JF, Luyendyk JP, Ganey PE, Roth RA. Application of high-throughput Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy in toxicology studies: contribution to a study on the development of an animal model for idiosyncratic toxicity. Toxicology Letters. 2004;146(3):197-205.

139. Johnson HE, Broadhurst D, Kell DB, Theodorou MK, Merry RJ, Griffith GW. High-throughput metabolic fingerprinting of legume silage fermentations via Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy and chemometrics. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 2004;70(3):1583-1592.

140. Julian L Griffin. The Cinderella story of metabolic profiling: does metabolomics get to go to the functional genomics ball? Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2006 January 29;361(1465):147-161.

141. Lenz EM, Bright J, Wilson ID, Morgan SR, Nash AFP. A H NMR-based metabonomic study of urine and plasma samples obtained from healthy human subjects. Journal of Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis. 2003;33(5):1103-1115.

142. Ala-Korpela M. Critical evaluation of H NMR metabonomics of serum as a methodology for disease risk assessment and diagnostics. Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine. 2008;46(1):27-42.

143. Barba I, de León G, Martín E, Cuevas A, Aguade S, Candell-Riera J, Barrabés JA, Garcia-Dorado D. Nuclear magnetic resonance-based metabolomics predicts exercise-induced ischemia in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. Magnetic Resonance in Medicine. 2008;60(1):27-32.

144. Leo GC, Darrow AL. NMR-based metabolomics of urine for the atherosclerotic mouse model using apolipoprotein-E deficient mice. Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry. 2009;47(supplement 1):S20-25.

145. Jeyarajah EJ, Cromwell WC, Otvos JD. Lipoprotein particle analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Clinics in Laboratory Medicine. 2006;26(4):847-870.

146. Ala-Korpela M. Potential role of body fluid H NMR metabonomics as a

prognostic and diagnostic tool. Expert Review of Molecular Diagnostics. 2007;7(6):761-773.

147. Fiehn O. Metabolomics-the link between genotypes and phenotypes. Plant Mol Biol. 2002;48:155-171.

148. Nielsen J, Oliver S. The next wave in metabolome analysis. Trends Biotechnol. 2005;23:544-546.

149. Fiehn O, Kopka J, Dörmann P, Altmann T, Trethewey RN, Willmitzer L. Metabolite profiling for plant functional genomics. Nat Biotechnol. 2000;18:1157-1161.

150. Plumb RS, Stumpf CL, Gorenstein MV, Castro-Perez JM, Dear GJ, Anthony M, Sweatman BC, Connor SC, Haselden JN. Metabonomics: the use of electrospray mass spectrometry coupled to reversed-phase liquid chromatography shows potential for the screening of rat urine in drug development. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2002;16:1991-1996.

151. Soga T, Ohashi Y, Ueno Y, Naraoka H, Tomita M, Nishioka T. Quantitative metabolome analysis using capillary electrophoresis mass spectrometry. J Proteome Res. 2003;2:488-494.

152. Gratzfeld-Hüsgen A, Schuster R. HPLC for Food Analysis: A Primer. Palo Alto, Calif, USA: Hewlett-Packard. 1996.

153. Maria G. Barderas, Carlos M. Laborde, Maria Posada, Fernando de la Cuesta, Irene Zubiri, Fernando Vivanco, Gloria Alvarez-Llamas. Metabolomic Profiling for Identification of Novel Potential Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Diseases. 4J Biomed

Biotechnol. 2011;790132.

154. Chen X, Liu L, Palacios G, Gao J, Zhang N, Li G, Lu J, Song T, Zhang Y, Lv H. Plasma metabolomics reveals biomarkers of the atherosclerosis.J Sep Sci. 2010 Sep;33(17-18):2776-2783.

155. Jvon Zur Muhlen C, Schiffer E, Zuerbig P, Kellmann M, Brasse M, Meert N, Vanholder RC, Dominiczak AF, Chen YC, Mischak H, Bode C, Peter K. Evaluation of urine proteome pattern analysis for its potential to reflect coronary artery atherosclerosis in symptomatic patients. Proteome Res. 2009 Jan;8(1):335-345.

156. Zhang F, Jia Z, Gao P, Kong H, Li X, Chen J, Yang Q, Yin P, Wang J, Lu X, Li F, Wu Y, Xu G. Metabonomics study of atherosclerosis rats by ultra fast liquid chromatography coupled with ion trap-time of flight mass spectrometry. Talanta. 2009 Aug 15;79(3):836-844.

157. Zha W, A J, Wang G, Yan B, Gu S, Zhu X, Hao H, Huang Q, Sun J, Zhang Y, Cao B, Ren H. Metabonomic characterization of early atherosclerosis in hamsters with induced cholesterol. Biomarkers. 2009 Sep;14(6):372-380.

158. Lee do Y, Bowen BP, Northen TR. Mass spectrometry-based metabolomics, analysis of metabolite-protein interactions, and imaging. Biotechniques. 2010 August;49(2):557-565.

159. Chen Y, Huang Y, Li X, Xu M, Bi Y, Zhang Y, Gu W, Ning G. Association of arterial stiffness with HbA1c in 1,000 type 2 diabetic patients with or without hypertension. Endocrine. 2009 Oct;36(2):262-267.

160. Ohnishi H, Saitoh S, Takagi S, Ohata J, Isobe T, Kikuchi Y, Takeuchi H,

Shimamoto K. Pulse wave velocity as an indicator of atherosclerosis in impaired fasting glucose: the Tanno and Sobetsu study. Diabetes Care. 2003 Feb;26(2):437-440. 161. Tomiyama H, Yamashina A. Pulse wave velocity. Rinsho Byori. 2004 Aug;52(8):669-675.

162. Tsuchikura S, Shoji T, Kimoto E, Shinohara K, Hatsuda S, Koyama H, Emoto M, Nishizawa Y. Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity as an index of central arterial stiffness. J Atheroscler Thromb. 2010 Jun 30;17(6):658-665.

163. Andoh N, Minami J, Ishimitsu T, Ohrui M, Matsuoka H. Relationship between markers of inflammation and brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity in Japanese men. Int Heart J. 2006 May;47(3):409-420.

164. Saijo Y, Utsugi M, Yoshioka E, Fukui T, Sata F, Nakagawa N, Hasebe N, Yoshida T, Kishi R. Inflammation as a cardiovascular risk factor and pulse wave velocity as a marker of early-stage atherosclerosis in the Japanese population. Environ Health Prev Med. 2009 May;14(3):159-164.

165. Miyaki K, Hara A, Naito M, Naito T, Nakayama T. Two new criteria of the metabolic syndrome: prevalence and the association with brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity in Japanese male workers. J Occup Health. 2006 Mar;48(2):134-140.

166. Imanishi R, Seto S, Toda G, Yoshida M, Ohtsuru A, Koide Y, Baba T, Yano K. High brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity is an independent predictor of the presence of coronary artery disease in men. Hypertens Res. 2004 Feb;27(2):71-78.

167. Yamashina A, Tomiyama H, Arai T, Hirose K, Koji Y, Hirayama Y, Yamamoto Y,

Hori S. Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity as a marker of atherosclerotic vascular

damage and cardiovascular risk. Hypertens Res. 2003 Aug;26(8):615-622.

168. Aso K, Miyata M, Kubo T, Hashiguchi H, Fukudome M, Fukushige E, Koriyama N, Nakazaki M, Minagoe S, Tei C. Brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity is useful for evaluation of complications in type 2 diabetic patients. Hypertens Res. 2003 Oct;26(10):807-813.

169. Yambe T, Yoshizawa M, Saijo Y, Yamaguchi T, Shibata M, Konno S, Nitta S, Kuwayama T. Brachio-ankle pulse wave velocity and cardio-ankle vascular index (CAVI). Biomed Pharmacother. 2004 Oct;58 Suppl 1:S95-98.

170. Jeong TS, Kim MJ, Yu H, Kim KS, Choi JK, Kim SS, Lee WS. (E)-Phenyl-andheteroaryl-substituted O-benzoyl-(or acyl)oximes as lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem Lett. 2005;15(5):1525-1527.

171. Kim OY, Yoe HY, Kim HJ, Park JY, Kim JY, Lee SH, Lee JH, Lee KP, Jang Y, Lee JH. Independent inverse relationship between serum lycopene concentration and arterial stiffness. Atherosclerosis. 2010;208(2):581-586.

172. Folch J, Lees M, Sloane Stanley GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. J Biol Chem. 1957;226(1):497-509.

173. Lepage G, Roy CC. Direct transesterification of all classes of lipids in a one-step reaction. J Lipid Res. 1986;27(1):114-120.

174. Wold S, Johansson E, Cocchi M. PLS-partial least squares projections to latent structures. In: Kubinyi H, Editor. 3D QSAR in Drug Design, Theory, Methods, and Applications. ESCOM Science Publishers: Leiden. 1993;523-550.

175. Wang C, Kong H, Guan Y, Yang J, Gu J, Yang S, Xu G. Plasma phospholipid

metabolic profiling and biomarkers of type 2 diabetes mellitus based on highperformance liquid chromatography/electrospray mass spectrometry and multivariate statistical analysis. Anal. Chem. 2005;77(13):4108-4116.

176. Neidlinger NA, Larkin SK, Bhagat A, Victorino GP, Kuypers FA. Hydrolysis of phosphatidylserine-exposing red blood cells by secretory phospholipase A2 generates lysophosphatidic acid and results in vascular dysfunction. J Biol Chem. 2006;281(2):775-781.

177. Hung CS, Lin JW, Hsu CN, Chen HM, Tsai RY, Chien YF, Hwang JJ. Using brachial-ankle pulse wave velocity to associate arterial stiffness with cardiovascular risks. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis. 2009;19(4):241-246.

178. Steinbrecher UP, Pritchard PH. Hydrolysis of phosphatidylcholine during LDL oxidation is mediated by platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase. J Lipid Res. 1989;30(3):305-315.

179. Stafforini DM, Sheller JR, Blackwell TS, Sapirstein A, Yull FE, McIntyre TM, Bonventre JV, Prescott SM, Roberts LJ 2nd. Release of free F2-isoprostanes from esterified phospholipids is catalyzed by intracellular and plasma platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolases. J Biol Chem. 2006; 281(8):4616-4623.

180. Hodson L, Skeaff CM, Fielding BA. Fatty acid composition of adipose tissue and blood in humans and its use as a biomarker of dietary intake. Prog Lipid Res. 2008;47(5):348-380.

181. Kim JY, Hyun YJ, Jang Y, Lee BK, Chae JS, Kim SE, Yeo HY, Jeong TS, Jeon DW, Lee JH. Lipoprotein-associated phospholipase A2 activity is associated with

coronary artery disease and markers of oxidative stress: a case-control study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;88(3):630-637.

182. Kim JY, Park JY, Kim OY, Ham BM, Kim HJ, Kwon DY, Jang Y, Lee JH. Metabolic profiling of plasma in overweight/obese and lean men using ultra performance liquid chromatography and Q-TOF mass spectrometry (UPLC-Q-TOF MS). J Proteome Res. 2010;9(9):4368-4375.

183. Chen L, Liang B, Froese DE, Liu S, Wong JT, Tran K, Hatch GM, Mymin D, Kroeger EA, Man RY, Choy PC. Oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein in normal and hyperlipidemic patients: effect of lysophosphatidylcholine composition on vascular relaxation. J Lipid Res. 1997;38(3):546-553.

184. Nelson GJ. The phospholipid composition of plasma in various mammalian species. Lipids. 1967;2(4):323-328.

185. Kougias P, Chai H, Lin PH, Lumsden AB, Yao Q, Chen C. Lysophosphatidylcholine and secretory phospholipase A2 in vascular disease: mediators of endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis. Med Sci Monit. 2006;12(1):RA5-16.

186. Liu M, Subramanian VS, Subbaiah PV. Modulation of the positional specificity of lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase by the acyl group composition of its phosphatidylcholine substrate: role of the sn-1-acyl group. Biochemistry. 1998;37(39):13626-13633.

187. Ojala PJ, Hermansson M, Tolvanen M, Polvinen K, Hirvonen T, Impola U, Jauhiainen M, Somerharju P, Parkkinen J. Identification of alpha-1 acid glycoprotein

as a lysophospholipid binding protein: a complementary role to albumin in the scavenging of lysophosphatidylcholine. Biochemistry. 2006;45(47):14021-14031.

188. Croset M, Brossard N, Polette A, Lagarde M. Characterization of plasma unsaturated lysophosphatidylcholines in human and rat. Biochem J. 2000;345 Pt:61-67.

189. Farrell EK, Merkler DJ. Biosynthesis, degradation and pharmacological importance of the fatty acid amides. Drug Discov Today. 2008;13(13-14):558-568.

190. Fu J, Gaetani S, Oveisi F, Lo Verme J, Serrano A, Rodríguez De Fonseca. F, Rosengarth A, Luecke H, Di Giacomo B, Tarzia G, Piomelli D. Oleylethanolamide regulates feeding and body weight through activation of the nuclear receptor PPAR-alpha. Nature. 2003;425(6953):90-93.

191. King IB, Lemaitre RN, Kestin M. Effect of a low-fat diet on fatty acid composition in red cells, plasma phospholipids, and cholesterol esters: investigation of a biomarker of total fat intake. Am J Clin Nutr. 2006;83(2):227-236.

192. Wang L, Folsom AR, Zheng ZJ, Pankow JS, Eckfeldt JH, ARIC Study Investigators. Plasma fatty acid composition and incidence of diabetes in middle-aged adults: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Am J Clin Nutr. 2003;78(1):91-98.

193. Lewis GF, Carpentier A, Adeli K, Giacca A. Disordered fat storage and mobilization in the pathogenesis of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Endocr Rev. 2002;23(2):201-229.

194. Koves TR, Li P, An J, Akimoto T, Slentz D, Ilkayeva O, Dohm GL, Yan Z,

Newgard CB, Muoio DM. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1alpha-mediated metabolic remodeling of skeletal myocytes mimics exercise training and reverses lipid-induced mitochondrial inefficiency. J Biol Chem. 2005;280(39):33588-33598.

195. Koves TR, Ussher JR, Noland RC, Slentz D, Mosedale M, Ilkayeva O, Bain J, Stevens R, Dyck JR, Newgard CB, Lopaschuk GD, Muoio DM. Mitochondrial overload and incomplete fatty acid oxidation contribute to skeletal muscle insulin resistance. Cell Metab. 2008;7(1):45-56.

196. Van Hove JL, Zhang W, Kahler SG, Roe CR, Chen YT, Terada N, Chace DH, Iafolla AK, Ding JH, Millington DS. Medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (MCAD) deficiency: diagnosis by acylcarnitine analysis in blood. Am J Hum Genet. 1993;52(5):958-966.

197. Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Stevens RD, Lien LF, Haqq AM, Shah SH, Arlotto M, Slentz CA, Rochon J, Gallup D, Ilkayeva O, Wenner BR, Yancy WS Jr, Eisenson H, Musante G, Surwit RS, Millington DS, Butler MD, Svetkey LP. A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. Cell Metab. 2009;9(4):311-326.

198. Krebs M, Krssak M, Bernroider E, Anderwald C, Brehm A, Meyerspeer M, Nowotny P, Roth E, Waldhäusl W, Roden M. Mechanism of amino acid-induced skeletal muscle insulin resistance in humans. Diabetes. 2002;51(3):599-605.

국문요약

초기 제 2 형 당뇨병 남자 환자군의 혈장 대사 프로파일링 : 염증성 지표 및 산화 스트레스와 동맥경화도의 관계

본 논문에서는 초기 제 2형 당뇨병 환자에서의 혈장 대사체들과 염증, 산화 스트레스, 혈관 경직도와의 상관관계에 대해 연구하였다. 초기 제 2형 당뇨병 남자 환자 26명과 나이와 체질량지수가 일치하는 건강한 남자 27명을 대상으로 염증성 지표, 산화 지표들과 혈관 경직도를 측정하는 지표인 상완-발목 맥파전파속도 (ba-PWV)를 측정하였다. 대사체 profile 들은 UPLC/Q-TOF MS 로 분석하였다. 당뇨병 환자군에서 대조군보다 혈당, 중성지방, oxidized LDL, hs-CRP, IL-6, TNF-α, 인슐린 저항성, urinary 8-epiprostaglandin F2α (8-epi-PGF2α) 와 상완-발목 맥파전파속도 (ba-PWV)가 높게 나타났다. 또한 당뇨병 환자군에서 leucine, lysine and phenylalanine, 8 6 lyso-phosphatidylcholines acylcarnitines, (lysoPCs) and 2 lysophosphatidylethanolamines (lysoPEs) 을 포함하는 19개의 대사체가 유의하게 높게 나타났고, serine and lysoPE (C18:1) 은 낮게 관찰되었다. 당뇨병 환자군 과 정상 대조군을 구분짓는 주요 대사체는 Decanoyl carnitine, lysoPCs (C14:0, C16:1, C18:1, and C22:6) lysoPE (C18:1) 이었다. Decanoyl carnitine 은 oxidized-LDL, 8-epi-PGF2α, IL-6, and TNF-α, ba-PWV 과 양의 상관관계를

보였다. Ba-PWV 는 lysoPCs C14:0, C16:1 과는 양의 상관관계를 lysoPE C18:1 과는 음의 상관관계를 보였다. 8-epi-PGF2α 는 lipoprotein-associated phospholipaseA2, ba-PWV lysoPCs (C14:0 and C16:1) 과 양의 상관관계를 보였다. 본 연구를 통해 초기 당뇨병 환자에서 혈중 대사체들이 염증, 산화스트레스, 혈관 경직도와 밀접하게 연관되어 있음을 알 수 있다.

핵심이 되는 말 : 초기 제 2 형 당뇨병, 대사체 profile, UPLC/Q-TOF MS, 염증성 지표, 산화 스트레스, 혈관 경직도, 상완-발목 전파속도